

Work-life balance measures for persons of working age with dependent relatives in Europe

A study of national policies 2016







EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion Directorate C - Social Affairs Unit C.2 – Modernisation of social protection systems

Contact: Emanuela TASSA

E-mail: Emanuela.TASSA@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels

European Social Policy Network (ESPN)

Work-life balance measures for persons of working age with dependent relatives in Europe

A study of national policies 2016

The European Social Policy Network (ESPN) was established in July 2014 on the initiative of the European Commission to provide high-quality and timely independent information, advice, analysis and expertise on social policy issues in the European Union and neighbouring countries.

The ESPN brings together into a single network the work that used to be carried out by the European Network of Independent Experts on Social Inclusion, the Network for the Analytical Support on the Socio-Economic Impact of Social Protection Reforms (ASISP) and the MISSOC (Mutual Information Systems on Social Protection) secretariat.

The ESPN is managed by LISER and APPLICA, with the support of OSE - European Social Observatory.

For more information on the ESPN, see: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1135&langId=en

Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union.

Freephone number (*):

00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

LEGAL NOTICE

This document has been prepared for the European Commission, however it reflects the views only of the authors, and the Commission cannot be held responsible for any use which may be made of the information contained therein.

More information on the European Union is available on the Internet (http://www.europa.eu).

ISBN 978-92-79-58124-3 doi: 10.2767/80471

© European Union, 2016

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Quoting this report: Bouget, D., Spasova, S. and Vanhercke, B. (2016), *Work-life balance measures for persons of working age with dependent relatives in Europe. A study of national policies*, European Social Policy Network (ESPN), Brussels: European Commission.

Contents

PR	REFACE	5
SL	JMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	8
	Summary	8
	Conclusions	11
	Recommendations	. 11
1	OVERVIEW OF MAIN FEATURES OF THE WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES FOR WORKING-AGE PEOPLE WITH DEPENDENT RELATIVES	
	1.1 Overall description of national LTC systems and support arrangements for carers	
	1.1.1 Developed and mature support schemes for carers	
	1.1.2 Underdeveloped support schemes for carers	
	1.1.3 Institutional settings, governance and recent reforms	
	1.2 Description of carer's leave	
	1.2.1 Eligibility conditions for carer's leave	
	1.2.2 Duration	
	1.2.3 Payment arrangements	
	1.2.4 Social security rights	
	1.2.5 Flexibility of leave and flexible working arrangements	
	1.3 Description of carer's cash benefits	
	1.3.1 Eligibility for carer's cash benefits	
	1.3.3 Duration	
	1.3.4 Tax credits, tax incentives and tax reductions	
	1.3.5 Social security contributions	
	1.4 Description of carer's benefits in kind	
	1.4.1 Eligibility	
	1.4.2 Respite care	
	1.4.3 Counselling, training and psychological support	
	1.4.4 Other benefits in kind	
2	ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF SPECIFIC WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES	
_	2.1 Assessing the effectiveness of leave schemes	
	2.1.1 Coverage and take-up	
	2.1.2 Employment effects	
	2.2 Assessing the effectiveness of cash benefits for carers	
	2.2.1 Coverage and take-up of cash benefits	
	2.2.2 Employment effects	
	2.3 Assessing the effectiveness of benefits in kind for carers	
	2.3.1 Coverage and take-up of benefits in kind for carers	
	2.3.2 Employment effects of benefits in kind	
3	OVERALL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN LONG-TERM CARE POLICIES, ALLOWANCES AND SERVICES	
A۱	NNEX 1. STATISTICAL ANNEX	. 34
A۱	NNEX 2: PRESENTATION OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL POLICY NETWORK (ESPN)	. 61
	A. ESPN Network Management Team and Network Core Team	
	B. ESPN National independent experts for social protection and social inclusion (Country	,
	Teams)	
ΑN	NNEX 3: COUNTRIES' OFFICIAL ABBREVIATIONS	. 72

Preface

In August 2015, the European Commission published a Roadmap for the initiative *A new start to address the challenges of work-life balance faced by working families*, which will replace the 2008 Commission's proposal to amend the Maternity Leave Directive. The objective for this new initiative is to modernise and adapt the current European Union (EU) legal and policy framework to allow parents with children and/or those with dependent relatives¹ to better balance caring and professional responsibilities, encourage a more equitable use of work-life balance policies between women and men, and strengthen gender equality in the labour market.

In its 2016 Work Programme², the European Commission has also announced a 'new start' initiative on work-life balance covering both legislative and non-legislative measures. The intention is to review the EU regulatory and policy landscape in this field with a view to better tackling the challenges of work-life balance for parents and people with caring responsibilities.

In this context, the Commission launched a consultation with the social partners³ in November 2015 on their views regarding possible improvements to EU legislation in the area of work-life balance, as well as a broad public consultation⁴ on other possible EU support measures. There appears to be a large variation between European countries in terms of the measures in place to support people with dependent relatives reconciling work and care: carer's leave schemes, cash benefits and in-kind support for caregivers and in general long-term care services to the dependent person (e.g. institutional care). There is also limited comparative EU-level analysis on the policies supporting people with dependent relatives⁵.

To support the Commission's analysis and to underpin the abovementioned 'new start' initiative, the European Social Policy Network (ESPN) was asked to take stock of the various measures in place to help working-age people with dependent relatives to balance work and caring responsibilities, and to assess their effectiveness. The present Synthesis Report draws on the national contributions prepared by the 35 ESPN Country Teams⁶. It was prepared by Denis Bouget, Slavina Spasova and Bart Vanhercke of the ESPN's Network Core Team⁷, with helpful comments and suggestions from the ESPN

5

¹ European Commission (2013), 'Long-term care in ageing societies – Challenges and Policy Options', Accompanying *Social Investment Package, Towards Social Investment for Growth and Cohesion – Including Implementing the European Social fund 2014 - 2020*, Staff Working Document (2013) 41 final.

² See Annex 1 of the European Commission Work Programme 2016 ('No time for business as usual'), second new initiative listed on page 2: http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/pdf/cwp_2016_annex_i_en.pdf.

³ http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=en&catId=89&newsId=2380.

⁴ http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=en&catId=89&newsId=2388&furtherNews=yes.

⁵ Comparative EU analyses in this field include *inter alia* the following references. Naldini, M., Pavolini, E. and Solera, C. (2016), 'Female employment and elderly care: the role of care policies and culture in 21 European countries', *Work, Employment and Society*, published online before print February 15, 2016, 1-24. doi: 10.1177/0950017015625602. Eurofound (2015), *Working and caring: Reconciliation measures in times of demographic change*, Dublin: Eurofound. Lipszyc, B., Sail, E. and A. Xavier (2012), *Long-term care: need, use and expenditure in the EU-27*, European Economy, Economic Papers 469/2012, Brussels: European Commission. Ranci, C. and Pavolini, E. (eds.) (2012), *Reforms in Long-term Care Policies in Europe, Investigating Institutional Change and Social Impacts*, New York: Springer. Saraceno, C. and Keck, W. (2011), 'Towards an integrated approach for the analysis of gender equity in policies supporting paid work and care responsibilities', *Demographic Research*, 25(11), pp. 371-406. Colombo, F., Llena-Nozal, A., Mercier, J., Tjadens, F. (2011), 'Policies to Support Family Carers', in *Help Wanted?: Providing and Paying for Long-Term Care*, OECD Health Policy Studies, Paris: OECD Publishing.

⁶ For a presentation of the ESPN Network Core Team and the 35 ESPN Country Teams, see Annex 2. This ESPN Synthesis Report and the 35 ESPN national Reports can be downloaded from: http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1135&intPageId=3589.

⁷ The three authors are from the European Social Observatory (Belgium).

Country Teams and from colleagues in the Network Management Team⁸. Comments and suggestions from the European Commission are also gratefully acknowledged.

Scope and ambition

This Synthesis Report is concerned with some of the key questions that arise regarding a) the work-life balance of working-age people – mainly women – who care for disabled and chronically ill dependent relatives, b) reconciling work and care obligations and c) maintaining the well-being of the carers and their families. The analysis focuses on carers of working age, whether or not they are actually working.

In view of the potentially very wide range of issues that could be considered, some clear choices have been made in terms of the scope of the analysis:

- First, a 'dependant' has been defined as any person (whatever her or his age)
 who is chronically ill, disabled and/or frail and who therefore requires caring
 services over a long period of time. The report furthermore focuses on dependent
 family members: children and adults with disabilities and the frail elderly.
- Second, long-term care (LTC) is defined as 'a range of services and assistance for people who, as a result of mental and/or physical frailty and/or disability over an extended period of time, depend on help with daily living activities and/or are in need of some permanent nursing care' (European Commission and Social Protection Committee, 2014, page 119).
- Third, the analysis focuses on the situation of the family carer. She/he is a
 working-age person who provides help to another person who is mainly a relative
 in need of LTC outside a professional or formal framework.

One key difference to many existing studies on LTC is that the Synthesis Report is specifically focused on the situation of the carers and on the social policy provisions (leave, carer allowances, respite support, etc.) which can help them to remain in the labour market by providing a better work-life balance, rather than on the situation of the person being cared for.

Research questions

The key question that has guided the analysis is: *To what extent can working-age people who are caring for dependent relatives balance work and caring responsibilities?*

More precisely, the 35 ESPN national reports provide answers to two sub-questions:

- i. What is the impact of the measures available in your country on enabling those carers who so wish to stay in the labour market, taking into account the different types of employment of the carers?
- ii. What is the impact of the measures available in your country on the well-being including the risk of poverty or social exclusion resulting from caring obligations of both the carers and the cared-for? This question includes a consideration of the availability of income protection in case the carer needs to take a leave of absence from work in order to care.

ESPN experts provided an overview of the types of measures (e.g. leave schemes, cash benefits, benefits in kind, LTC services and flexible working arrangements) available in their country to help working people with dependent relatives to remain in the labour market. In addition to the description of measures, they assessed whether the described measures are sufficient in terms of availability, affordability and quality, to provide

⁸ Hugh Frazer (Maynooth University, Ireland) and Eric Marlier (Luxembourg Institute of Socio-Economic Research (LISER)).

⁹ European Commission and Social Protection Committee (2014), *Adequate social protection for long-term care needs in an ageing society*, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 251 p.

incentives for relatives to remain in the labour market or rather create incentives to leave the labour market.

When analysing the labour market effects of the various measures, a wide range of situations has to be considered, from staying in a job without any change to a complete exit from the labour market. When assessing effects on well-being, experts assessed the effects on the risk of poverty or social exclusion. This risk could for instance be reduced and social inclusion enhanced by care and carer allowances, income protection and inkind support for LTC. Well-being also depends on whether expenses need to be paid by the carers/family members¹⁰. Finally, it is well known that informal care services to dependent people are mostly provided by women: mothers, spouses, middle-aged daughters or daughters-in-law. Many of them may not be able to find or stay in formal work. Consequently, informal carers, and especially women, have been found to be at higher risk of poverty (European Commission and Social Protection Committee, 2014).

The Synthesis Report's aim is to illustrate the main trends and elements in national LTC policies through a limited number of examples. In this respect, countries with similar developments are listed in brackets so that the reader can examine the national reports for more information. In producing their national reports, experts cite many different sources in support of their analysis. References to these are not included in this Synthesis Report. Readers wishing to follow up the original sources are again invited to consult the individual expert's national reports (see reference above).

To assist ESPN experts in making their assessments, data were compiled and selected in Annex 1, which provides comparative statistical information on several elements of the topic.

-

¹⁰ See, for instance, the Sixth European Working Conditions Survey regarding the connection between work and private life carried out on behalf of the *European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions* (Eurofound).

Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations

Summary

The present Synthesis Report addresses the work-life balance of carers of dependent persons by examining three main social policy arrangements: leave schemes, cash benefits and benefits in kind. To this end, the 35 ESPN Country Teams provided, first, a brief description of the main features of their national long-term care (LTC) systems and, secondly, an assessment of the implementation of the aforementioned policy arrangements. Particular attention was given to the coverage and take-up of benefits, the impact of work-life balance policies on the employment situation of caregivers and on the well-being of the carers (mostly female relatives) and cared-for persons.

It is important to state from the start that the provisions to the dependent person represent the cornerstone of all national LTC systems and too little attention has been paid to the role of the carer. The support arrangements for carers depend on four main features of national LTC systems: the scope of the LTC arrangements (whether or not provisions exist to improve the carer's work-life balance situation), the institutional settings (e.g. fragmentation between health and social assistance provisions), the level of governance (the state entity providing benefits and services) and the significance of previous and ongoing reforms.

The assessment of the effectiveness of support arrangements for carers is very challenging because of the lack of evidence available to support this assessment: data are often inaccurate or even missing. As a result of the scarce attention paid to the role of the carer in national LTC policies, very little is known about coverage, non-take-up and the impact of LTC benefits on well-being of the carers and cared for persons. Notwithstanding these limitations, the ESPN Country Teams managed to provide substantial evidence concerning the employment and well-being effects of a wide range of benefits.

A key finding is that all 35 countries under scrutiny provide more or less significant LTC provisions for children and adults with disabilities. By contrast, LTC arrangements tailored to frail elderly people are less developed. Unsurprisingly all of these provisions vary considerably – according to the age and the dependency level of the person – not only from country to country, but equally within the same country (spatial inequalities).

As importantly, national policies show a great deal of variation with regard to the three main social policy arrangements for carers: leave schemes, cash benefits and benefits in kind. A general trend is that long-term leave to care for children with disabilities is considered as 'extra leave time', in addition to the leave to care for healthy children (e.g. BG, CY, EE, EL, FR, HR, HU, PL, PT, RO, SI, SK)¹¹. Many countries indeed relax the eligibility criteria for families with children who are severely disabled. Generally, the rights of carers of dependent adults or elderly relatives are less developed than those of parents of children with disabilities.

Countries can be broadly classified into two main categories of support schemes for carers although these categories are not watertight and depend on other aspects such as the labour market settings.

The first broad category – **developed and mature support schemes for carers** – is characterised by specific arrangements targeted at carers, and/or provisions granted to the dependent person who uses them (de facto or sometimes subject to a legal obligation) to pay a carer. This 20-country category is composed of two subgroups.

• Countries with relatively universal and comprehensive LTC support schemes for carers (DK, SE, NO, IS, FI).

-

¹¹ For the countries' official abbreviations used in this report, see Annex 3.

These countries have a well-established, long-lasting tradition of LTC, regardless of the age of the dependent person: organising such care is seen as a public responsibility. Individual independence is a key feature of these policies, and there is no legal maintenance obligation between relatives¹² (except for spouses in Finland). Three main features characterise these systems. First of all, there is a mix between mostly shortterm leaves, cash benefits and benefits in kind specifically targeted at the carer, and those geared to the dependant, as well as a broad supply of respite support (a short break from caring duties), except in Denmark. Secondly, in-home services (medical assistance, household services) are widespread, well-developed and accessible (easily accessible home care reduces the need for care provided informally). Such in-home care is preferred to institutional arrangements, except in Finland and Iceland. Thirdly, the generous LTC provisions in kind (both to the dependent person and to the carers) in the Nordic countries, together with the flexible structure of the labour market, often allow the carer to stay in employment during care obligations. The consequence on the carer's well-being is rather positive. It should be noted that the Finnish model deviates from that of the other Nordic countries, since women aged 25-45 years often have longer periods of absence from the labour market, due to the child home care allowance.

• Countries providing provisions mainly to the dependent person and specific support to the carer (AT, BE, CH, DE, ES, FR, IE, IT, LU, NL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK).

Support arrangements vary considerably among the countries in this subgroup, but their LTC systems can be considered as targeted at support for the carer, usually relatives (in Switzerland, arrangements could widely vary across cantons). Almost all of these countries provide generous leave conditions. All of them provide specific cash benefits targeted at the cared-for person, who uses them (de facto or sometimes obliged by law) to buy in care. Institutional care (residential care, day care provided in institutions, etc.) is also well-developed. Some of these countries also have cash benefits targeted specifically at the carer (ES, FR, IE, NL, RO, SI, SK, UK). Benefits in kind are mainly granted to the cared-for person but are described by the experts as an important indirect support to the carer. For instance, in the 1990s, Germany, Luxembourg and Belgium (Flanders) introduced a LTC insurance scheme. In all three countries benefits are targeted at the dependent person but are specifically intended to provide support to the carer, most often a family member. The employment situation of carers in this subgroup is heterogeneous and depends strongly on the general structure of the labour market (employment in industry or services; opportunities for part-time jobs or not, etc.), familistic values and intergenerational solidarity.

It should be noted that the situation of Ireland and the United Kingdom in this subgroup is specific. Both countries have established comprehensive schemes targeted specifically at the carer. There is no legal obligation to care, and carers can be people outside the family circle. However, these schemes are subject to strict eligibility conditions concerning both the carer and the dependant (means-testing, caring needs and dependency assessment). Public in-home services and institutional care are not well developed (IE) or have been recently subject to significant cuts (UK).

The second broad category — underdeveloped support schemes for carers — follows the so-called 'familistic model', with few or no specific provisions allowing for the buying in of care. It includes 15 countries: BG, CY, CZ, EE, EL, HR, HU, LI, LT, LV, MK, MT, PL, RS, TR. Many of these countries provide benefits only to the dependant, and these have also been estimated by some experts as insufficient (e.g. LT, LV). Moreover, in these countries institutional care is underdeveloped or there is a cultural reluctance to use the care on offer. In some countries, several care structures and caring programmes exist but the administrative structures for managing them are underdeveloped (BG, EL, MT). Eligibility conditions are often strict and depend on the age and on the dependency

-

 $^{^{12}}$ In some countries (e.g. France, Germany, Italy, Portugal, Spain), there exists a reciprocal maintenance legal obligation in the direct line of ascent and descent.

assessment of the dependent person, on the family relationship and even on gender (MT). There is often a legal maintenance obligation. In most of these countries, carers remain outside the labour market despite the legal provisions on flexible hours and part-time work. In some countries, cash benefits are granted only to carers who are not in employment (e.g. MT, PL). In other countries, even when it is legally possible to stay in employment, this option is not taken up because of a lack of part-time and flexible work culture (HR) or general labour market arrangements. In this category of countries several barriers act as a strong disincentive to the employment of carers. These barriers include the lack of leave provisions, benefits in kind, in-home support and the overall labour market structure. They weaken the work-life balance, especially for female carers. Women are quasi-obliged to leave their paid employment for a long time, contributing even further to women's disadvantageous position in the labour market. Carers often face a rigid labour market with few part-time work opportunities.

The main conclusion of the ESPN experts on the work-life balance of caregivers is that it is better in countries which have developed various part-time work arrangements and flexible working time. In countries where part-time and flexible working schemes are (becoming) widespread, the leave available for LTC does not create significant disincentives to gainful employment (e.g. IE, NL, PT). The employment effect of cash benefits depends on a series of factors. First, it depends on the structure of the labour market, especially the degree of flexibility for part-time and flexible working hours. Secondly, the employment effect is more important for female employees than for men. Thirdly, it also depends on the traditional or legal obligations of care for dependent persons. Finally, it varies according to the availability of allowances granted not only to the carers but also to cared-for people.

Within the institutional settings of the LTC system, the fragmentation of benefits and service provision between branches of the social security system, especially between health and social assistance, is a key concern (e.g. CZ, LT, LV, PL, RO, SI, UK). This fragmentation indeed triggers serious inconsistencies in the organisation of services, inefficiency, high non-take-up of benefits and a lack of transparency.

The level of governance is another key determinant of the LTC system. In federal states (AT, BE, DE, CH), as well as in countries where important powers are devolved to the regions (ES, IT, UK), subnational entities are usually responsible for the distribution of LTC services; in some cases they are also responsible for assessing the level of cash and benefits in kind. In Switzerland the availability of the carer's support varies widely across cantons. In Nordic countries, municipalities play a significant role in checking eligibility conditions and providing cash or in-kind benefits. They often work in cooperation with civil society organisations. In some Eastern countries, experts point to serious discrepancies between the services provided both by regions and municipalities (e.g. CZ, EE, HR, LV, LT).

Experts put forward three main reform trends in LTC policies. First, some countries have implemented reforms since the 1980s to move towards more comprehensive schemes, in particular with regard to the ageing of the population (e.g. AT, DE, ES, FR, IE, LU, NL, PT). Secondly, there is a general trend towards deinstitutionalisation of care (e.g. DK, CZ, FI, LT, LV, RS, SE, SK). The third trend is towards taking account of the carer's work-life balance by enshrining specific provisions in national LTC strategies (e.g. CZ, EE, FR, IE, LV, UK).

National ESPN experts also highlight the impact of EU funding in improving LTC services and the work-life balance of carers (e.g. BG, EE, EL, PL, RS).

The national reports clearly state that when the allowances to the dependent persons and to the carers are relatively high and the household has a rather low income, they deincentivise carers to take up employment, but they decrease the risk of poverty. When the allowances are low or very low, the experts consider that they do not have any impact on carer's employment, except for poor families where even low allowances could have a disincentive effect on the employment of carers.

Finally, recent economic reforms are characterised by fiscal consolidation measures: cuts in budgets are often another barrier to increased employment for women. These measures combined with a re-familialisation process (e.g. SE) have a tendency to lock women into their traditional homemaker roles.

Conclusions

The work-life balance of those caring for a dependent person (children and adults with disabilities, and the frail elderly) is a relatively new issue on the agenda of policymakers. This report sheds light on the three main provisions for carers (leave schemes, cash benefits and benefits in kind) within the institutional settings of national LTC systems and labour market determinants. It demonstrates that the work-life balance of the carer mostly a working age woman – is a problematic issue which is rarely recognised as such. In the majority of countries, LTC policies are geared to the dependent person and overlook the carer's situation. Only a few countries - namely those with universal and comprehensive LTC systems - make the necessary arrangements to enable carers to remain in employment and preserve their work-life balance. Nevertheless, even in these favourable contexts, some recent policy reforms and political discourses accentuate deinstitutionalisation and the extension of community care without, however, promoting the development of public in-home services. This seems at odds with the convincing evidence that benefits provided to the cared-for person as well as to the carer are efficient in increasing the opportunities for female employment, notably by improving the work-life balance of the carer and reducing the gender employment gap. However, in many countries such policies remain underdeveloped.

It should be clearly stated that in many countries the situation of the cared-for person is also problematic because of unfair/burdensome administrative procedures for dependency assessment. Such procedures have a direct and negative influence on the work-life balance of the carer. New LTC policies targeted specifically at the carer should take into account the interplay between a broader set of care policies to disabled persons and employment policies geared to carers: these issues cannot be separated from each other. Political reflection on women's citizenship comprising their place on the labour market and their active participation in society in general is needed, especially in the light of revamped political discourse relegating women to their traditional family-care role.

Recommendations

The objective of striking a good work-life balance for people who have to care for dependent relatives cannot be reached by specific carer's benefits alone. The success of this objective indeed largely depends on the interplay between a broader set of social and employment policies. This balance very much depends on the pattern of family values in society and the gender distribution of economic activity, more precisely on employment and social policies in place allowing people with dependent relatives to balance work and care.

There are large differences between national LTC systems in terms of development of social protection, the amount of benefits, their degree of universality, their degree of maturity, and – crucially – differences in gender perception and the status of women in society. Recommendations to countries on the situation of carers should therefore differentiate at least between 'mature' and 'less mature' social protection systems. Today's mature systems are based on a 'first generation' of support schemes, implemented roughly before the nineties. These have recognised dependency of old people as a new social risk and tailored new types of social policies to support care for dependent persons. The second, younger generation of support schemes, was launched early this century, and therefore had to address this risk in a very different socioeconomic context. These include ageing of the population, increasing women's labour force participation, labour market reforms, financial and economic crises and EU

enlargements. The recommendations below build upon those made by the ESPN Country Teams in their national reports.

Recommendations to countries with underdeveloped support schemes for carers

Countries which are characterised by a very low supply of LTC benefits should design a coherent, comprehensive and transparent LTC system through the following courses of action

Building a strategy to develop all care benefits and services in a universal way:

- 1. Benefits should be defined regardless of the age of the dependent persons; this principle could avoid the piling up of different age-defined benefits, leading to overlaps and gaps in provision. This would equally guarantee a fairer distribution of benefits and would solve the problem of transition between benefits for different age groups (childhood, adulthood and old-age).
- 2. The reformed LTC systems should attempt to decrease organisational fragmentation. Reforms should attenuate the organisational divide between healthcare systems and social care services. Within the general organisation of the care benefits system, they should pay attention to the vertical (between levels of government) and horizontal (between policy areas) coordination between bodies in charge of the supply of benefits. The objective should be to simplify access to benefits.
- 3. Benefits in kind and services should be evenly distributed over the whole country in order to avoid high spatial inequalities.

Recommendations to countries with developed and mature support schemes for carers

The first generation of LTC policies focused primarily on the situation of the dependent person. Benefits and their administrative organisation were designed with one unique objective: the well-being of the dependent person. Today, the design of care benefits should also include the objectives of employment and well-being for the carer.

Designing care benefits that include the objectives of employment and well-being for the carer:

- 4. Reinforce benefits in kind for caregivers in order to decrease their psychological and health problems. Reforms should promote different types of respite schemes, training, counselling and other support.
- 5. Strike a new balance between the carer's status and the benefits to the cared-for person, by:
 - a) increasing the number of professional carers, improving their social and professional conditions for a better work-life balance, and developing their training schemes;
 - b) increasing the focus on the economic situation of informal carers; and
 - c) developing LTC policies that include both services to those being cared-for and the development of favourable employment conditions for carers.

Recommendations to all countries

An increased focus is needed on the employment of carers and on the well-being of family members. This can only be achieved by combining different policies.

Balancing the employment of carers and the well-being of family members:

- 6. Improve the provision of formal care services: increase supply and ensure fair spatial distribution, affordability and quality. This would be a win-win policy as it would contribute to increasing female labour demand (this sector is female dominated) and alleviating the risk of poverty.
- 7. Reconcile labour market and care leave. An analysis of the leave schemes in European countries shows that they can be an efficient way of retaining a job by allowing carers to maintain their attachment to the labour market.
 - a) In those countries with a labour market characterised by strong traditional barriers against reconciling work and family life¹³, instigate a broad reform of labour law and/or introduce fiscal incentives to improve voluntary part-time work in enterprises.
 - b) Introduce reforms which encourage both sides of industry to introduce leave schemes, part-time jobs and more flexible working hours for carers¹⁴ such as collective agreements or legislation defining the rules for the payment of leave and tax incentives for the employment of caregivers. These reforms should:
 - set eligibility criteria and conditions (equal rules of payment) for leave, whatever the age group of the dependent person; and
 - include provision for more training sessions for caregivers. 15
- 8. In countries which have created a LTC insurance scheme, the carer's leave should be automatically included in the compulsory insurance scheme.

Better designing carer's allowances

- 9. In countries which provide a wide range of allowances to the cared-for person as well as to carers, several types of cash benefits could be merged, with a view to improving the transparency of provision to families. Several other measures could lead to a better design of carer's allowances:
 - a) better checks on the use of carer's allowances should be introduced so as to reduce the demand for services in the grey labour market;
 - b) when the carer's allowance is very low, it should be increased so as to alleviate poverty for families. The national at-risk-of-poverty threshold calculated according to the agreed EU methodology could provide a possible national benchmark in this context¹⁶;
 - c) reforms should ensure that social security rights are maintained, whether or not an allowance is received.
- 10. Strengthen evidence-based policy-making regarding caring and carers through a well organised, coordinated and systematic collection of quality data on LTC, especially in countries where the system is underdeveloped. (See also Recommendation 14.)

Recommendations to the European Commission

11. Improve the legal definition of 'long-term care' in Europe, especially in the revision of the Regulation 883/2004 on the coordination of social security

¹³ For example, male-dominated labour supply, no culture of part-time and flexible working hours, reluctance among employers to facilitate it, etc.

¹⁴ Employers' organisations could find it advantageous to introduce part-time jobs and more flexible working hours for carers (e.g. with a view to avoiding absenteeism and heavy psychological burdens for employees).

¹⁵ This would improve the quality of care services to the dependent person (nutrition, ergonomics) while promoting the nursing and caring professions. In this way, a link would be maintained with opportunities on the labour market.

¹⁶ In each country, the at-risk-of-poverty threshold is set at 60% of the national median household equivalised disposable income. National reference budgets could also provide useful guidance in this context.

- systems. It will be important to have a similar understanding of what Member States consider as 'LTC'.
- 12. Continue to provide support, including through the learning tools of EU cooperation in the field of social protection and social inclusion, to countries that need to design and develop strategies on LTC to dependent persons. Further promote the use of the European Social Fund (ESF) to stimulate these initiatives.
- 13. Promote the use of EU funding (notably the European Social Fund [ESF]) to develop professional services, especially in the least developed LTC systems in Europe.
- 14. Encourage Member States to better take into account the gender dimension in the implementation of LTC policies by a) gathering data on this issue (gendered statistics on leave and cash benefits take-up; polls on the well-being and employment status of carers, indicator of equal gender of labour division) and b) disseminating information on the situation of carers. Furthermore, in countries (mainly those with mature LTC systems) where reforms are characterised by new, familistic initiatives, the Commission could remind these national governments (social dialogue, European Semester) that they may fall short as regards a key European objective: gender equality. (See also Recommendation 13.)

1 OVERVIEW OF MAIN FEATURES OF THE WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES FOR WORKING-AGE PEOPLE WITH DEPENDENT RELATIVES

This section provides an overall description of the long-term care systems in general (1.1) while providing a detailed account of carer's leave (1.2), cash benefits (1.3) and carer's benefits in kind (1.4).

1.1 Overall description of national LTC systems and support arrangements for carers

ESPN experts addressed the work-life balance (WLB) situation of the carers of dependent persons by examining three main social policy arrangements: carer's *leave*, *cash benefits* and benefits *in kind*. Furthermore, in order to be able to assess the actual role of these provisions, experts were asked to describe the main features of the national LTC systems. National reports highlighted four main features playing a significant role in national LTC systems: *the scope of the system* (whether or not provisions exist to improve the carer's WLB situation), *the institutional settings of the system* (e.g. fragmentation between health and social assistance provisions), *the level of governance* (the state entity providing benefits and services) and finally the key importance of *previous and ongoing reforms*. These different features are summarised in Table 1 below.

As regards the *scope of the system*, it can be claimed that the LTC policies targeted at the dependent person represent the cornerstone of national LTC systems, while little attention has been paid to the role of the carer. All 35 countries assessed provide more or less generous LTC provisions to children and adults with disabilities. However, LTC arrangements tailored to frail elderly people are less developed in most countries.

With regards to the work-life balance of the carers, experts highlighted that the overall design of the LTC system matters a great deal. Along with the carer's leave and cash benefits schemes, benefits in kind tailored to the dependant are of a great importance for the WLB of the carer. Moreover, the availability of care institutions (residential or semi-residential facilities) and in-home services play a significant role in this balance.

In this respect, countries can be classified into two main categories, although these are not watertight and depend on other aspects such as the labour market settings. The first broad category, countries with developed and mature support schemes for carers, is characterised by specific arrangements targeted at carers, and/or provisions granted to the dependent person who uses them (de facto or sometimes obliged by law) to pay a carer. The second category, underdeveloped support schemes for carers, follows the so-called 'familistic model', with few or no specific provisions for carers or cared for people.

1.1.1 Developed and mature support schemes for carers

Following the description of national LTC systems the first category – which provides support arrangements for carers and/or dependent persons – is divided into two subgroups of countries (see Table 1):

• Countries with relatively universal and comprehensive LTC arrangements (DK, FI, IS, NO, SE).

These countries have a well-established, long-lasting tradition of LTC, regardless of the age of the dependent person: organising such care is seen as a public responsibility. Individual autonomy is a key feature in these policies, and there is no maintenance obligation (except for spouses in FI). Three main elements underpin these systems. First of all, there is a mix between mostly short-term leave, cash benefits and benefits in kind specifically provided to the carer. Secondly, there is a well-developed public system of inhome care support (medical assistance, household services). Such in-home care is preferred to institutional arrangements except in Finland and Iceland. Thirdly, institutional care is available and represents a significant support for the WLB of the carer

(in particular day-care services). In addition, experts pointed to the importance of the flexible labour market structure, which allows carers to stay in employment while meeting their care obligations.

• Countries providing provisions mainly to the dependent person and specific support to the carer (AT, BE, CH, DE, ES, FR, IE, IT, LU, NL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK).

Support arrangements for carers vary considerably among the countries in this subgroup (in CH wide variation across cantons). Almost all of these countries provide generous leave conditions. All of them provide specific cash benefits targeted at the cared-for person, who uses them (de facto or sometimes obliged by law) to buy in care. Institutional care (residential care, day care, etc.) is rather well-developed. Some of these countries also have cash benefits targeted specifically at the carer (ES, FR, IE, NL, RO, SI, SK, UK). Benefits in kind are mainly granted to the cared-for person but are described by the experts as an important indirect support to the carer.

The LTC arrangements of the countries in this cluster are underpinned by very different institutional settings and financing methods. For instance, in the 1990s Germany, Luxembourg and Belgium (Flanders) introduced a new LTC insurance scheme. The Belgian system is well-developed and provides generous benefit schemes to dependants, acting as indirect support to the carer (in particular the voucher service), as well as a wide range of residential and community care arrangements. France, Portugal and Spain have implemented several reforms to provide more opportunities to support carers, in particular those nursing frail elderly people. Finally, it is to be noted that only three Eastern Europe countries belong to this subgroup: Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia. Despite some reported issues as to how the system actually functions, these countries are characterised by generous leave conditions and a mix of benefits for the dependant and for the carer and rather well-established institutional care arrangements.

Unlike most of the other countries in this group, Ireland and the United Kingdom have established comprehensive schemes targeted specifically at the carer. There is no legal obligation to care, and carers can be people outside the family circle. However, these schemes are subject to strict eligibility conditions concerning both the carer and the dependant (means-testing, caring needs and dependency assessment). Specific cash (carer allowance) and benefits in kind are provided directly to the carer but are subject to strict eligibility conditions. Moreover, public in-home services and institutional care are not well developed. Leave is short and either unpaid (IE) or dependent on negotiation with the employer (UK). As for employment of carers, the Irish LTC arrangements are very restrictive and were originally tailored to full-time carers (mostly a female family member). In the UK, a high proportion of carers are obliged to give up work because of important shortcomings in provisions of leave and in substitute care services for disabled or older people that would allow carers to combine work and care-giving.

Table 1: Overall description of support schemes for carers

Developed and m	ature support schemes	Underdeveloped support schemes				
fo	r carers	for carers				
Universal and Comprehensive	Provisions mainly to the dependent person and	'Familistic model': specific provisions (nearly) non-existent				
LTC arrangements	specific support to the carer					
DK, FI, IS, NO, SE	AT, BE, CH, DE, ES, FR, IE, IT, LU, NL, PT, RO, SI, SK, UK	BG, CY, CZ, EE, EL, HR, HU, LI, LT, LV, MK, MT, PL, RS, TR				

1.1.2 Underdeveloped support schemes for carers

The second category of countries, characterised by underdeveloped schemes, follow the so-called 'familistic model', in which few or no specific provisions allow for the buying in of care (BG, CY, CZ, EE, EL, HR, HU, LI, LT, LV, MK, MT, PL, RS, TR). Many of these countries provide benefits only to the dependent person and some experts assess these benefits as insufficient (LT, LV, SK). Institutional care is underdeveloped in these systems, or there is a cultural reluctance to use the care available. In some countries, care structures and caring programmes exist but the administrative structures for managing them are underdeveloped (BG, EL, MT). Eligibility conditions are often strict and depend on the age and on the dependency assessment of the dependent person, on the family relationship and even on gender (MT). In most of these countries, carers remain outside the labour market despite the legal provisions on flexible hours and part-time work.

1.1.3 Institutional settings, governance and recent reforms

As regards the institutional settings of the LTC systems, a key feature is the fragmentation of benefit and service provision between branches of the social security system, especially between health and social assistance (e.g. BG, CZ, EE, RO, LT, LV, SI, UK). This fragmentation triggers serious inconsistencies in the organisation of services, inefficiency and a lack of transparency. For instance, in Romania there are two overlapping systems for assessing work capacity and functional skill for independent daily living (a disability and an invalidity system).

The level of governance is the third important issue addressed in the overall description of the system. In federal states (AT, BE, DE, CH) as well as in countries where important competencies are devolved to the regions (ES, IT, UK), sub-national entities are usually responsible for the distribution of LTC benefits; in some cases, they are also responsible for assessing the level of cash and benefits in kind. It is important to note that in Switzerland the availability of carer's support varies widely across cantons. In Nordic countries, municipalities play a significant role in checking against eligibility conditions and providing cash, benefits in kind and in-home services. They often work in cooperation with civil society organisations. In some Eastern countries there are serious discrepancies between the services provided both by regions and municipalities (e.g. CZ, EE, HR, LV, LT).

As a final point, experts have highlighted the key issue of reforms. In this respect, three main trends can be distinguished. First, some countries have implemented reforms since the 1980s (first generation reforms) to move towards more comprehensive schemes, in particular with regard to the ageing of the population (AT, DE, ES, FR, IE, NL, PT, UK). Secondly, there is a general trend towards deinstitutionalisation of care (e.g. CZ, DK, EE, FI, LT, LV, RS, SE). The third trend is towards taking account of the carer's work-life balance, at least by enshrining specific provisions in national LTC strategies. (e.g. CZ, EE, FR, IE, UK).

Some experts have highlighted the importance of EU funding in improving LTC services and the work-life balance of carers (e.g. BG, EE, EL, LT, LV, PL, RS).

1.2 Description of carer's leave

Almost all countries (except for LI) have adopted legislation on access to leave for carers of dependent persons. These legal arrangements vary considerably from country to country, and within one country they may vary with regard to duration, eligibility, benefit level and entitlement to social security rights. Leave conditions often depend on the age group of the cared-for person (children and adults with disabilities and frail elderly), the intensity and type of dependency (e.g. terminal stage of illness, degree of disability) and finally on the labour market arrangements available for the carers (collective agreements, discretion of the employer, private versus public sector provisions). For instance, in Malta only public sector employees are entitled to leave to care for

dependants, while in the private sector, leave is entirely a matter for the employer's discretion. In some countries (e.g. IT, NL), the self-employed are excluded from carer's leave provisions.

1.2.1 Eligibility conditions for carer's leave

Eligibility criteria for carer's leave can be divided into four main categories: a) the age groups of the cared-for person, b) the dependency assessment, c) the social insurance contributions period and d) the employment relationship of the carer.

The eligibility conditions for carer's leave vary widely, first of all, according to the *age group of the dependent person*. Carer's leave schemes for disabled children exist in almost all European countries. By contrast, only few countries provide leave for carers of frail elderly dependants (AT, DE, DK, FR, IS, IT, NO, SE).

All countries except for LI and SK have legislative provisions on carer's leave for those looking after children with disabilities. The upper age limit of a child is often eighteen, but sometimes it is lower (e.g. EE, LT, LV). Moreover, eligibility conditions (mostly concerning duration) sometimes vary according to the age of the child with disabilities (e.g. EL, HR). Many ESPN experts underline the more or less generous extension of maternity and parental leave (often by several years) for parents of disabled children (CY, FR, HR, PL, PT, RS, SI, SK).

Carer's leave schemes for caring for dependent adults or frail elderly persons vary substantially. A few countries do not provide any sort of leave scheme (LI, SK). In many countries (BE, EL, ES, FI, FR, HU, IE, IS, LU, NO, PL, PT, RO) there are different types or different spells of leave according to age groups. Only very few countries provide carer's leave schemes regardless of the age of the dependent person (AT, DE, DK, IE, IT, NL, SE, UK).

It should be also noted that in some countries, the carer is entitled to look after dependent persons outside the family circle (DK, IE, IS, NL, NO, SE, UK). With few exceptions, Southern and Eastern European welfare states score poorly on providing carer's leave to look after dependent adults and frail elderly persons. For instance, the majority of these countries provide leave only for carers of children with disabilities (CY, CZ, EE, HR, LT, LV, MT, MK, RS, SI, SK, TR). Leave for carers of dependent persons of different age groups is only available in a few Southern (EL, ES, IT) or Eastern (BG, HU, PL, RO) countries.

The second eligibility criterion for carer's leave is *the intensity and the type of dependency of* the cared-for person. Two main categories of dependency assessment are used. Many countries use disability scales, ranging from full health to severe disability (e.g. AT, EL, ES, FI, FR, HR, HU, IT, LT, LU, LV, NO, RO, RS, SI, SK, TR). When such measurement tools do not exist, the assessment is based on a medical examination and a medical certificate, depending on a doctor's decision (e.g. EE). In this respect, some experts suggest that the non-recognition of some forms of disability leads to some carers being excluded from all leave and benefits (e.g. BG, SI). It should be noted that many countries provide specific carer's leave when an individual is providing end-of-life support (AT, BE, DE, DK, FI, FR, LU, NO).

Eligibility for carer's leave also depends, thirdly, on the *carer's social insurance* contributions period and/or her current employment relationship (CZ, LI, MT, UK) i.e. the legal link between employers and employees. For instance, in the Netherlands employers must provide carer's leave (although there may be some restrictions with regard to the economic situation of the firm). At the opposite end of the spectrum, eligibility for carer's leave (in particular the issue of duration), is left up to the employer's discretion in LI, MT and RO (except for carers of children with disabilities).

Fourthly, in terms of employment relationship of the carer, self-employed people are excluded from carer's leave schemes in IT, NL and UK. They may, however, take carer's leave – just like employees – in HR, LU and SI. In Belgium, there are special provisions

for the self-employed which apply if their child or partner is in need of palliative care; this arrangement has been changed and expanded (including care for a disabled child aged below 25) since 2015. Some countries provide specific arrangements for unemployed carers where she/he has paid social insurance contributions during a legally required period (e.g. HR, SI).

1.2.2 Duration

With regard to duration of carer's leave, there are three main trends: a) countries providing both short-term and long-term leave; b) countries providing only short-term leave and c) leave schemes of unspecified (reasonable) duration.

Most of the countries provide both short-term and long-term leave schemes (AT, BE, DE, DK. ES. FI. FR. HR. HU. IE. IT. MT. NO. PT. RO. SE. SI. SK. TR). The duration of shortterm leave varies from a couple of days to a couple of weeks (3-4 weeks). Short-term leave is often tailored to taking care of a sick person over a short period of time (whatever the sickness-related reason) and/or to enable the arrangement of formal care services. Long-term leave can vary from a month to several months or even more than a year (e.g. FI, IT, MT, PT). This is specifically meant to allow the carer to provide care for a dependent person and/ or take some time off simply to bond with them or provide emotional support. The period of leave can depend on public/private sector provisions (e.g. MT, NL, TR), collective agreements (e.g. DK, SE) or even on the employee's union affiliation (IS). Within this group of countries, the duration varies considerably according to the age group of the dependent person. Leave provisions for carers of dependent children are usually better developed than those concerning other age groups: e.g. HR (leave only for parents of dependent children), HU and RO. Moreover, even within this age group, duration often varies according to the age of the child (e.g. EL, FR, IT, NO, SI). In cases where a country provides leave for carers of both children and dependent adults, the duration is usually longer for the former.

In countries where only short-term leave schemes exist (e.g. BG, CZ, CY, EE, EL, LT, LV, LU, PL), these are usually geared to allowing care of a sick person whatever the sickness-related reason. Duration of these leave schemes varies most often from a couple of days to 2-3 weeks. Some of these countries provide leave only for carers of children (e.g. EE, LT, LV). In cases where leave is provided to carers of dependent adults, its duration is shorter than that allowed for children. For instance, in Estonia, leave of up to 14 calendar days is available for those taking care of a child of 12 years of age and of only half this time (7 calendar days) for those taking care of a dependent adult. In addition to paid short-term leave, parents of disabled children receive one additional free day a month.

In the third type of carer's leave provisions, duration is not specified (e.g. NL, SE, UK). For instance, in the UK the duration is left up to a negotiation with the employer. In the Netherlands, in addition to short-term leave and long-term leave provisions, there is also specific emergency leave, where employees receive a reasonable amount of time to meet urgent care circumstances.

1.2.3 Payment arrangements

Many countries provide both *paid and unpaid leave*. In Ireland and Hungary, leave is unpaid as a rule, but carers can qualify for a carer's benefit (see Section 1.3).

Methods of establishing payment during leave vary considerably between countries, and within the same country according to the type of leave. A general scheme usually establishes the payment during leave as a proportion of previous earnings, subject to various ceiling conditions. The percentage generally varies between 70 and 80%. Some countries provide generous short-time carer's leave on full pay, i.e. 100% of the gross salary of previous months or years (e.g. ES, IT, LU, SI). Besides this general scheme, a few countries apply a flat rate amount: BE (787 euros per month in 2015, approximately 35% of the net average earnings of a single person), DK (at least 2,000 euros per month in 2016, approximately 70% of the net average earnings of a single person), HR (276)

euros per month in 2016, approximately 40% of the net average earnings of a single person). In the UK, time off for care-related emergencies is paid at the employer's discretion.

In some countries, the amount provided during certain types of leave is calculated on the basis of sickness benefits (e.g. DK, PL). In Denmark, the allowance provided to employees is 1.5 times the sickness benefit. The upper limit of payment is often earmarked and depends on previous earnings, on a legally established threshold which can be linked to inflation or on the amount of other (most often sickness) benefits (e.g. DK, NO). In Austria, the rate of care leave benefits is income-related and basically equal to the rate of unemployment benefits.

1.2.4 Social security rights

Leave provisions generally allow the carer to continue building up social security rights (e.g. AT, BE, BG, CY, CZ, DE, EE, FI, FR, HR, IE, IT, LT, LV, MK, NL, NO, PL, RO, RS, SE, SI, UK). These provisions can vary according to the type of leave (paid or unpaid) and its duration. In many cases both pension and health insurance are covered for the carer and sometimes preferential terms for self-insurance are provided in occupational schemes (e.g. AT).

1.2.5 Flexibility of leave and flexible working arrangements

Flexibility of carer's leave

Flexibility of carer's leave consists of piecemeal schemes that allow the carer to take the leave in spells over a long period of time (e.g. IT, NL, NO, TR), and/or to share it between carers (e.g. DK, FR, NO). Piecemeal arrangements can consist in taking some days or hours off over a couple of months or splitting the leave into weeks and/or months. For instance, in Italy carers are entitled to take three working days per month, on a piecemeal hourly basis. In the Netherlands, the carer can take up to a maximum of six weeks (six times the weekly working hours) and this can be spread over the year. Furthermore, this can be repeated each (following) year.

Flexible working arrangements

The majority of the countries provide flexible working time arrangements for carers of dependent persons (AT, BE, DE, DK, FR, HR, IT, LT, LV, MK, NL, NO, PL, RO, SE, SI, TR, UK). In a few countries, flexible working hours are a matter for the employer's discretion: this is the case in LI and MT (in the private sector). In Serbia flexible working hours and part-time arrangements were only recently introduced and employers have not fully adapted to these yet. In Lithuania flexible working hours apply when the carer of a disabled child is a single parent.

Most countries have established various part-time work arrangements (AT, BE, DE, DK, HR, IT, FR, LT, MK, NO, NL, RO, SE, SI, TR, UK). Hourly payment and duration arrangements are different for each case. For instance, in Macedonia part-time working hours of carers are considered as full working hours. In Croatia all employees and the self-employed have a limited or an unlimited right to work half-time. Carers can continue to benefit from this unlimited right to work half-time even after their child with severe disabilities has turned 18, as there is no upper age limit.

In some countries (IE, LI, MT), flexible arrangements are restricted or depend completely on the employer's discretion. For instance, in Ireland the carer's leave cannot be taken on a part-time basis. Likewise, in Liechtenstein no legal entitlement exists for carer's leave vis-à-vis the employer, and the leave cannot be taken on a part-time basis. In Malta, except for the public sector, part-time arrangements depend on concessions from employers.

In all European countries job protection is guaranteed during carer's leave. Liechtenstein is a key exception though: it does not provide any protection of the carer's employment

contract. The payment of a salary and job protection depend entirely on a decision by the employer.

1.3 Description of carer's cash benefits

Cash benefits for caring can be divided into three main types: a carer's allowance, which is directly provided to the carer if she or he applies for it: this if for example the case in HU, IE, MT, NO, PL, RO, SI (only to carers of disabled children), SK and the UK; a care allowance granted to the dependent person for whom it is an earmarked benefit¹⁷: e.g. in ES, PT and SI (only to adult beneficiaries of care allowance); and finally a care allowance to a dependent person who may buy in services of carers from the labour market, or who can use it to 'pay' a relative who becomes the carer (all countries, except for HU). The former two types of allowance are subject to various legal rules applicable to the carer status.

1.3.1 Eligibility for carer's cash benefits

Eligibility criteria for a carer's allowance directly provided to the carer are mostly as follows: the age of the dependent person (children and adults with disabilities, and frail elderly persons) and sometimes the age of the carer (IE), the dependency assessment (e.g. HU, NO, RO, SK, UK), the carer's earnings (e.g. IE, UK), the insurance period (e.g. AT, IE, NO) and employment relationship, the legal residence of the carer (e.g. IE, SK), gender (MT) and civil status (single/couple: MT, MK).

These conditions vary widely from country to country and between different benefits within the same country. For instance, in Ireland different conditions concerning the age of the carer, her/his previous earnings and her/his place of residence apply to the two carer's cash benefits: the carer's allowance on the one hand, and the carer's benefit on the other. In the UK, the carer's allowance is also means-tested but does not depend on the place of residence of the carer.

In many countries, the age and the dependency assessment of the dependent person are the main elements in applications, along with specific eligibility conditions concerning the carer (e.g. HU, IS, RO, NO, PL, SK, UK). As regards the employment relationship, in many countries it is possible to combine carer responsibilities with another job (e.g. AT, DE, DK, HR, HU, IS, LV, NO, SE, SI, SK, UK).

Eligibility criteria for a care allowance for a dependent person, who uses it (de facto or sometimes obliged by law) to pay a carer, most often include: age of the dependent person (adults with disabilities, and frail elderly persons), dependency assessment, household income of the dependent person, family relationship carer-dependent person and finally the qualifications of the carer. Many countries provide this type of cash benefits: ES, FR, LU, LT, LV, PT, RO, SE, SI (only to dependent adults), SK. Some illustrations are provided in Box 1. It should be mentioned that only a few countries provide specific carer's cash benefits for those caring for frail elderly persons (e.g. BE, FR). For instance, in Belgium there is an allowance for assistance to the elderly (AAE). In France, a Personal Autonomy Allowance (APA) can be granted to a frail elderly person to pay for carer's services.

21

¹⁷ PT (Attendance Allowance' - *Subsídio por assistência de terceira pessoa*); ES (Monetary benefit for care in the family setting and support for non-professional carers; Monetary benefit for personal assistance; Monetary benefit linked to contracting a service); IT (*Indennità di accompagnamento* (attendance allowance – IA)).

Box 1: Cash benefits to a dependent person, to pay a carer: illustrations

In Portugal the attendance allowance is granted to disabled persons who need permanent care from a third party. The eligibility conditions focus mainly on the dependency assessment and on the income of the cared-for persons. The caregiver must live in the same household as the cared-for person.

In Sweden, the attendance allowance is granted directly to the dependent person, to be used to pay a family member. Eligibility is usually based on the assessed level of dependency or time spent in caregiving, reflected in terms of weekly hours of help needed.

In Spain, there are three cash benefits targeted at dependent persons to pay a carer who can be a professional or a family member. These benefits also depend on the dependency assessment of the cared-for person.

In Slovenia the benefit granted to a person with a disability to hire a home care assistant depends on the dependency assessment. Moreover, in order to be eligible the carer has to either live with the cared-for person or be her/his relative. She/he has the right to work part-time.

All countries provide various cash benefits to adults with disabilities, which can be used at the discretion of the beneficiary to buy in services of carers on the formal or informal labour market. For instance, in Germany, the recipient of the cash benefit is, by law, the cared-for person and not the carer. She/he can freely dispose of the care allowance, but 'it is intended that he or she transfers the amount to the family-care-giver' (IT national report). In Italy, the attendance allowance (IA) is a universal benefit accessible to people with disabilities, regardless of their age. It is paid directly to the cared-for person, but the Italian report suggests that the legislation is not sufficiently transparent as to who is the actual beneficiary: the cared-for person or the carer.

In Austria, a universal 'long-term care cash benefit' is granted to the dependent person. The benefit should especially be used to buy formal care services or to provide reimbursement for informal care giving. However, this benefit is not subject to legal verification.

Moreover, within a country, the implementation of eligibility criteria varies across levels of governance responsible for evaluating whether carers are eligible (e.g. BE, CH, DK, EE, ES, SE).

1.3.2 Payment arrangements

As regards payment arrangements, methods vary a great deal between countries, and within the same country according to the type of benefit. The main elements for establishing the level of a carer's allowance provided directly to the carer are a) the age and the degree of dependency of the cared-for person, b) the carer's previous earnings, c) the employment relationship and d) social insurance period. Carer's allowances can be means-tested or universal. In this respect, there can be a variety of payment arrangements within the same country (e.g. FR, IE, NO, SE). For example, in Ireland the carer's allowance is means-tested but the insurance-based carer's benefit is not.

The amount of the carer's direct allowance can be established as a percentage of another type of benefit (e.g. AT, SE) or of previous earnings, or may be a flat-rate amount (e.g. NO, PL).

1.3.3 Duration

The duration of receipt of cash benefits varies between several months and an unlimited period of time (e.g. MT). The duration mainly depends on the age group and the degree of dependency. For instance, Iceland has a carer's benefit payable for up to 6 months if a working parent stops working, considered as a long-term parental allowance. In the UK, the carer's allowance can be paid indefinitely so long as the carer and the cared-for person continue to satisfy eligibility requirements.

1.3.4 Tax credits, tax incentives and tax reductions

Taxation of carer's cash benefits varies widely. There is a trend to tax allowances directly provided to the carer (e.g. HU, NL, NO, PL, SE, UK) while the cash benefits to a dependent person who uses them (de facto or sometimes obliged by law) to pay a carer are exempt from taxes (e.g. CY, DE, IT, NO, PT). It should be specified that in Cyprus, allowances are given in the context of the strictly means-tested Guaranteed Minimum Income (GMI) scheme, and only persons with an annual income above 19,500 EUR have an obligation to pay taxes. Thus these allowances are de facto, but not de jure, non-taxable. For instance, in Norway the attendance benefit is not taxable while the attendance allowance and carer's wage are.

All countries (except for CY) provide tax credits, tax incentives or tax reductions to the dependent persons and their family. These usually take the form of exemption from property tax, tax deduction for buying equipment, and child tax credits which can be subject to an income ceiling (e.g. ES).

1.3.5 Social security contributions

In all countries except for Turkey, carer's benefits provide the right to build up social security contributions. These are most often pensions and health insurance rights and can vary according to the kind of benefit. Some countries have preferential conditions for carer's benefits (e.g. AT, DE, ES, HR). Only in Turkey is payment of the carer's cash benefit considered as a social benefit without any social security contributions for the carer. They must pay these on their own initiative.

1.4 Description of carer's benefits in kind

Only very few countries provide a well-developed scheme of benefits in kind *specifically for carers* (DK, IE, IS, NO, SK, SE, UK). Such a scheme may include respite care (a short break from caring duties), training, counselling, information (hotline, internet sites) and psychological support ¹⁸.

In over slightly half of countries (AT, BE, DE, EE, FI, FR, HR, HU, IT, LI, LT, LU, LV, NL, PL, PT, RO, RS, SE, SI), ESPN experts describe benefits in kind granted to the dependent person as 'indirect benefits' (often respite) for the carer and/or the cared for. Benefits in kind granted to the cared for person are: respite care (for instance, temporary stay in a residential home), household help, medical services, logistics, and technological innovations to increase her/his functional capacity. Finally, in a few countries there are almost no benefits in kind targeted at the carer, and only a few for the dependent person (BG, CZ, EL, TR). Several experts (AT, BE, CH, CZ, DK, EE, EL NL, RO, UK) claim that the type, the amount and the availability of benefits in kind may vary considerably from one state entity to another: federal entities, administrative institutions and regions/municipalities.

1.4.1 Eligibility

The most common eligibility criteria for statutory benefits in kind for carers are the following: age, degree of dependency of the cared-for person, the family relationship and (in NO) the proof of need of respite support. Criteria regarding the dependent person are: age, degree of dependency of the cared-for person and the type and level of help needed. It is interesting to notice that legislation in England (2014 Care and Support Act) gives carers the same rights to assessments of their needs as the rights of disabled/older people. With regards to the age group, in almost all countries benefits in kind for parents of disabled children are the most widespread, while far fewer are available for the care of frail elderly persons.

 18 Some experts consider leave arrangements as a benefit in kind for carers. In this Synthesis Report, these have already been analysed in Section 2.1.1 on 'Leave'.

1.4.2 Respite care

Only very few countries provide respite support for the carer (DK, IE, IS, NO, SE, SK, UK). This often takes the form of a short break from caring duties, during which time inpatient or (semi-) outpatient professional care is provided to the cared-for person. Moreover, in-home services are an important respite support for carers. For instance, in Belgium, along with inpatient services, there is a service voucher scheme intended as indirect respite support, in particular for female carers. In Sweden, the services targeted at cared-for persons are understood as 'indirect care' provided to the carer: home-help, institutional care, day care, short-term respite care, housing adaptation, safety alarms. Unlike direct support, indirect support is only accessible after a needs assessment. Direct and indirect support complements and sometimes overlaps with each other.

In the majority of countries, respite care (inpatient, and (semi-) outpatient provisions) are provided to the dependent person. In several countries, its purpose is to support the family caregivers through professional care (AT, BE, DE, EE, ES, FI, FR, HR, IT, LI, LT, LU, LV, NL, PT, RO, SE, SI). However, generosity of these benefits in kind often varies according to age group. The institutional care system plays an important role in FI, IT, RO, RS and MK.

1.4.3 Counselling, training and psychological support

The majority of countries provide various types of training, counselling and psychological support for carers. However, the quality and the availability of this vary widely, from not available (CZ) and very rare (BG, EL, LV, LT) to well-developed (e.g. DE, IS, NO, SE, SI, SK). In many countries, experts pointed to the role played by voluntary organisations in providing training, counselling and psychological support to carers (e.g. CH, CZ, DE, DK, EE, EL, LT, LV, UK).

1.4.4 Other benefits in kind

Having access to information on the available benefits is a valuable resource for carers (AT, DE, FI, IT LV, NO, SE, SI, UK). This can take the form of hotlines, targeted internet sites and exchange forums, informal networks of carers, etc. Some experts regret the lack of information on benefits in kind available (e.g. EL, CZ, FR). The Danish report underlines the importance of innovative welfare technology in increasing self-reliance and autonomy, thus acting as an indirect support for carers. In Estonia welfare technologies are also perceived as an important in-home support and are mainly financed by the state.

2 ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF SPECIFIC WORK-LIFE BALANCE MEASURES

The effectiveness of work-life balance (WLB) measures for working-age people who care for dependent relatives can be assessed, first, by two indicators: coverage and take-up of leaves, cash benefits and benefits in kind. Secondly, it can be assessed by looking at the impact of the WLB measures on the carer's employment situation, and on the well-being of the members of the family (both the cared-for and carer).

According to many national experts, the effectiveness of WLB measures for carers is difficult to evaluate. Data are often missing, especially as regards coverage and take-up. This lack is generally explained by the traditional objective of LTC policies, the improvement of the socio-economic condition of the cared-for person (health services, care allowances, caring services, housing arrangements, etc.). Consequently, the dependent person very often remains the key statistical unit used in the evaluation of the policies and little attention is paid to the carer's situation (e.g. CY, SE).

On the other hand, LTC services are a greatly expanding employment sector (e.g. DE), and new studies of employment in the personal services sector focus more on the situation of caregivers, mainly women, who are caring for dependent family members. Within this context of scarce knowledge, ESPN experts provided information on the impact of leave schemes, cash benefits and benefits in kind on the employment and the WLB of carers, as well as on the well-being of family members. The assessment is based on quantitative and qualitative analysis; sometimes experts use proxy variables (DK), causal analysis, econometric methods (CY), simulations (CZ), or typologies (IT).

2.1 Assessing the effectiveness of leave schemes

Almost all European countries have legislation on carer's leave which often distinguishes between three categories of dependent persons: children with disabilities, adults with disabilities and frail elderly dependants. Long-term leave to care for children with disabilities usually becomes additional leave time which can be added to the leave for healthy children. In this case, many countries relax the eligibility criteria for family with children who are severely disabled (e.g. CY, FR, HR, PL, PT, RS, SI, SK, see Section 1.2.1). Generally, the rights of carers of disabled adults or frail old people are less developed than those of parents of children with disabilities.

2.1.1 Coverage and take-up

Detailed evidence on coverage is scarce. First, some countries simply do not have any leave scheme: CZ, LI, LV (except for sickness benefit for a child in care) and SK. Secondly, data are missing in many other countries (e.g. DK, FI, FR, HR, HU, IE, IS, RS, UK). Many countries do not have any publicly available figures on the number of carers, or very little data on measures for working age people. Some national reports use the statistical annex provided in this report (Annex 1) to ascertain the rank of their country or to compare it to the EU average.

Some countries do provide direct information on coverage and take-up. In Italy, coverage and take-up rates of carer's leave and carer's cash benefits are relatively high. In 2014, 38,865 cases of longer leave (up to 2 years of paid leave) were financed. In Spain there were 283,000 carers in 2014, i.e. 10% of all part-time workers, and 39,611 cases of leave granted. In Poland, child-raising leave is not very popular, although it is likely to be more widespread among parents of children in need of LTC. In Sweden some 15,700 persons used care leave in 2015 and approximately two thirds of all care of older people living in the community is provided by informal caregivers. In the Netherlands, the right to grant care leave is a legal obligation for employers. In that sense, all employees can take care leave. However, of all informal caregivers (also those providing care to people outside the family circle) merely 5% take unpaid leave, and 7% take paid

leave. This is probably due to readily available opportunities to work part-time in the Netherlands.

For other countries, indirect information on coverage and take-up is provided by the fact that care is given mainly by women, either full-time (complete absence from the labour market) or part-time: Croatia has 'one of the smallest proportions of part-time workers in the European Union' (HR national report), because there is no culture of part-time work. In Cyprus, 13.9% of women aged 25-64 who worked in part-time employment stated that they chose part-time work in order to look after children or incapacitated adults.

According to Eurofound's 2012 European Quality of Life Survey, in 2010, 7.4% of women were involved in daily caring for their elderly or disabled relatives. This percentage is very low in Nordic countries, the Netherlands and Germany (1.3-4%), while Romania, Croatia, Spain, Portugal and Lithuania have high percentages (10.5-14.5%) (detailed data in Annex 1). Figure 1 largely confirms the results of the analysis of the ESPN national experts and shows the huge difference between a group of EU Member States characterised by a low frequency of people who are often involved in caring for their elderly or disabled relatives (CY, CZ, DE, DK, FI, LU, and SE) on the one hand, and another group of countries (ES, HR, IT, LT, MT) characterised by a high relative frequency of people involved in intensive caring.

Figure 1: Percentage of people frequently involved in caring for their elderly or disabled relatives (2012, EU Member States)

Source: See Annex 1.

Reading note: On average, for the EU as a whole, 10.5% of low-income respondents declare that they frequently (i.e. 'every day' or 'several days a week') care for their elderly or disabled relatives. The proportion of frequent carers among women is 11.3% and among the 50-64 year olds 13.7%.

Data on the take-up or non-take-up of care leave are often unavailable. This is, for example, the case in DE (absence of a reporting obligation), IE, NO, SK and the UK. When the data on take-up are available, the experts note that it is rather low. In the Netherlands, only 5% of all caregivers take unpaid leave, and 7% take paid leave. Non-take-up is frequently due to non-payment of leave (ES, FR) or to a decision by the administration (TR).

2.1.2 Employment effects

In spite of insufficient information on the situation of carers, the national reports provide a lot of information on the effect of carer's leave on their labour market position. Several factors facilitate mobility between care leave and a job.

Countries can be divided into three groups, according to the structure of the labour market, eligibility for a carer's allowance or wage or equivalent, and the supply of benefits in kind (Section 2.3) as well as the rules, and regarding part-time work.

In some European countries (e.g. CY, CZ, HR, HU, MT, PL), there are strong barriers related to the structure of the labour market that act as a strong disincentive to the employment of carers, such as poor development of the service sector and of female employment in general. These weaken the work-life balance, especially for female carers.

The level of the carer's allowance also affects employment on the labour market. A significant carer's allowance (or salary) may greatly affect the behaviour of workers. We note a significant move from the previous job to a 'new' one in the family (see Section 2.2.3). One could consider the family as a new monetary economic sector, in which nonpaid care gradually becomes paid care. All in all, it is clear from the national reports that the work-life balance of carers of dependent relatives is easier in countries which have developed various part-time work and flexible working arrangements. Importantly, in countries where part-time and flexible working schemes are or are becoming usual, the leave available for LTC does not create significant disincentives to gainful employment (IE, NL, PT). In Belgium, most people take a part-time career break rather than a fulltime career break. In Italy, practically all carers have open-ended working contracts, and there are only a few workers with fixed-term contracts. In Malta, carers who work in the public sector can benefit from an impressive list of Family Friendly Measures (FFM). In Germany, the obligation to repay the loan is still a strong barrier to reducing working hours or claiming care leave. The Portuguese report also notes the role of grandparents, who contribute to a better balance between working and caring, limiting possible negative employment effects. In a similar vein, elderly people in Croatia often offer financial and psychological support to their children and provide care to their grandchildren.

It should finally be noted that the effects of leave schemes – but also of allowances and benefits in kind (see Section 3 for further discussion) – on the well-being of caregivers and of the dependent persons in the family are quite impossible to assess for two reasons: first, very few countries provide data on adequacy and, second, when information is available, assessments can rarely identify the proper effect of each carer benefit.

2.2 Assessing the effectiveness of cash benefits for carers

There are two main functions of cash benefits. The first is to offset the costs of extra services required by dependent persons, which may vary depending on the type and the intensity of their dependency or disability. The second is to replace earnings lost because of care responsibilities. Therefore, besides the direct allowance for carers, the care allowance for the dependant is often considered as an indirect wage or a 'routed wage' for the carer (e.g. IT, RO, SK). This reflects the conviction that caregivers can benefit from the financial help received directly by the disabled dependent person.

2.2.1 Coverage and take-up of cash benefits

Coverage of cash benefits seems to be high when allowances are considered as universal: e.g. DK, IS, IT (Indennità di accompagnamento), NO (carer's wage) and SE. However, in Ireland and the United Kingdom the coverage is lower due to strict eligibility conditions for the carer and the cared-for person (double conditionality). Furthermore, in Poland, there is a high coverage rate for cash benefits related to care, mainly due to the 'nursing supplement', which is a benefit provided to (almost) all individuals above 75 years of age.

The number of beneficiaries (both carers and dependants) of cash benefits is increasing in several European countries: this is for example the case in BE (allowance for assistance to the elderly), IT (Indennità di accompagnamento), LV (the family state benefit for a child with disabilities), RO (the child-raising indemnity) and SE (childcare allowances). This upward trend is the combined result of several factors: the change in the nature of dependency needs (IT), the scarcity of services which puts pressure on families to ask for some types of cash provision (IT), a doctrinal policy change in favour of 'staying at home' or 'ageing in place' (SE) for dependent persons, and the process of deinstitutionalisation (e.g. DK, HR, HU, PL, SE). However, due to budgetary constraints, new reforms are tending also to slow down this expanding trend and to restrict the number of recipients of care allowances to the most severely disabled persons. Consequently, these reforms are weakening the socio-economic status of female employees for two reasons. Women who care for non-severely disabled persons now have to cope with a loss of income, due to the absence of a care allowance. Furthermore, caring for severely disabled persons, they are obliged to give up their paid employment in enterprises or organisations.

There are very few data available on the take-up of cash benefits (e.g. IS, UK). High take-up seems to be the exception (IS, *Umönnunarbætur*). In the Czech Republic, there are data on the allowance for cared-for persons, but no evidence on how often they use it for purchase of professional care. In many countries, experts consider that the non-take-up of allowances is high, for various reasons. When a strict carer's allowance exists, non-take-up is explained by the double eligibility condition (e.g. IE, UK); by discretionary local authority decisions (e.g. FI); by means-tested schemes: e.g. in FR, IE (carer's allowance), NO, SE, UK (carer's allowance); and finally by spatial exclusion (CH), or a grey labour market (HR, TR).

2.2.2 Employment effects

The employment effect of cash benefits depends on a series of factors. First, it depends on the structure of the labour market, especially the degree of flexibility for part-time and flexible working arrangements. Secondly, the employment effect is greater for female employees than for men. Thirdly, it depends on the culture of care and the traditional or legal obligation of care for dependent persons. Fourthly, the employment effect depends not only on the allowances to the carers but also on the allowances to the cared-for persons.

However, diverse the schemes, the ESPN experts generally conclude that the employment effect of cash benefits is limited because the allowances are (very) low (e.g. CZ, EE, FR, HU, IE, LI, LT, LV, MK, NL, NO, PL, PT, RO, UK). The employment effect of cash benefits seems to be strongly linked to the income of both the carer and cared-for person, as well as to the level of their benefits.

While allowances are low, parents of children with disabilities in Slovenia have several options/instruments that help them reconcile family and work obligations and remain in the labour market. The most important is that they have a right to work part-time, and have social security contributions based on the proportional part of the minimum wage paid from the state budget for the hours not worked. However, they are not guaranteed a return to full-time work. Some carer allowances and policies may create a significant disincentive effect for the employment of caregiver relatives: this is for example the case

in CZ (lack of services and low level of care allowance to secure professional care), DE (strong increase in the care allowance), RS and UK. Even relatively low allowances may create disincentive employment effects when granted to a poor family, as for example in ES, HU, NO, MT and PT (disabled child allowance).

Finally, one cash benefit may engender contradictory employment effects. For example, in Poland, the employment effect of the nursing benefit is ambiguous.

2.3 Assessing the effectiveness of benefits in kind for carers

The availability of benefits in kind for the cared-for person is very important for family caregivers. As discussed in Section 1.1, Nordic countries have implemented a model of generous benefits in kind to dependent people (in-home services and residential homes) which are particularly effective in improving the work-life balance of women and employment in general. Some countries have created a system of vouchers: in Belgium, the service voucher scheme has become a very popular initiative.

National policies and reforms are characterised by a general move towards non-increase or even a reduction in the number of beds in residential homes, with these being supposedly replaced by in-home services (e.g. DK, SE). However, this reduction creates or intensifies bed shortages, higher non-take-up and pressure on at-home services. This shift obviously has consequences on the employment rate, skills, and degree of pressure on the potential carers in the families.

2.3.1 Coverage and take-up of benefits in kind for carers

Benefits in kind for family caregivers are often underdeveloped, discontinuous and sometimes completely absent (CZ, EL, HU, LI, MK, TR). Only a few countries have developed a substantial scheme of services for carers, but paradoxically these services are sometimes under-used, as is the case in FI (reluctance of dependants) and FR.

When they exist, the most frequent benefits in kind for carers in European countries are respite support, training as well as counselling and information services. Respite services (full-time day care, respite care within institutions, etc.) are often underdeveloped: this is the case in CZ, EL, ES, HR,RO, SK, SI (short supply, faults in the design of services), IT (not widespread in the country), LT (only available in some municipalities), MT (only day-care for children). In the UK, a survey of carers found that 64% had never accessed any other support or services such as respite breaks or counselling (apart from family and friends). In France, efforts have been made in recent years to allow moments of respite but these remain underutilised.

Training, information and counselling services are other types of benefit in kind for carers: CH, EL (underdeveloped and shortage), ES, PT (high demand), RO. In Romania, fewer than half of the personal assistants have undergone training during the last two years (2010), as the law foresees (according to a survey regarding carers of severely physically disabled children and youth). The underdevelopment or the shortage of services and the high demand entails a lack of suitable services (EE) and waiting lists (RS).

When benefits exist in a country, the supply can be very unequal because the system is run by regional or local governments: the latter leads to regional disparities (North/South in Italy), urban/rural disparities (DE, SI) and disparities in municipal policies (NL). Spatial inequality tends to be even greater than the inequality of cash benefit provision. Sometimes the lack of public provision of services is partly compensated for by Non-Governmental Organisations, as is the case in CZ (self-help associations), EL and SI.

Sometimes opposite trends are apparent. Some countries have increased the supply of services: DE (outpatient flat-sharing communities), FR and PT). Others have cut budgets: DK and UK (England). One consequence is that austerity measures are increasing the burdens falling on unpaid family caregivers.

2.3.2 Employment effects of benefits in kind

Theoretically, support to family caregivers from professionals in everyday care and in special situations (substitute care, short-term care, day-and night-care) can remove obstacles for carers to enter/remain in the labour market.

Countries which have a long tradition of local services to dependent persons, such as the Nordic countries, point to the intensive creation of jobs, the potential reduction of situations where family members are obliged to leave the labour market, and finally the increase in the individual autonomy of family members: 'It could be argued that public LTC for older people is not only a cost, it is also a precondition for women's labour force participation, and thereby a precondition of a broader tax base to finance public welfare services' (SE national report). In a similar vein the Spanish expert underlines that state services for those with disabilities and work-life balance measures play an important role in incentivising carers (particularly mothers) to remain in active employment.

In countries where home care services are underdeveloped or being reduced through public spending restrictions (SE, UK), the national experts note that dependants are often faced with a choice between two options: to live in residential homes, or to stay at home with the help of a member of the family. Finally, the scarcity of home care services for dependants indirectly contributes to family members leaving their job. The negative employment effects are also due to spatial disparity, which provides a stronger disincentive, since a family member is more or less obliged to become a carer.

3 OVERALL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN LONG-TERM CARE POLICIES, ALLOWANCES AND SERVICES

The overall interactions between LTC policies, allowances and services have direct effects (via benefits for the carer) and indirect effects (via benefits to the cared-for person) on the WLB of relatives who are caring for a dependent member of the family. The consequences depend on a large number of elements. There are domino or cascade effects (choices, alternatives, tensions, shortage, etc.) of any reform on all the other elements of the general LTC system, and thus on the employment and well-being of family caregivers. We discuss several of these in turn.

Organisation of LTC

For more than a decade, a general movement towards deinstitutionalisation, coupled with well-developed in-home care services for dependent people (children and the elderly), has been promoted as a 'win-win' policy. It is assumed that there will be an increase in the well-being of the dependent persons and an expected lower cost of home care services, to offset the closure of residential homes or centres for disabled persons. However, the success of such a reform needs an extensive and comprehensive set of services for caring at home. In the Nordic countries (DK, IS, NO, SE) and some others (FR), this deinstitutionalisation policy has guaranteed the well-being of persons and the work life balance of women: 'High employment results in more taxes that in turn contribute to the financing of work-life measures. Vice versa work-life measures and policies mean that more carers are able to work thus increase employment' (DK national report). In contrast, experts in other countries point to several shortcomings in LTC services: waiting lists to enter a residential home (e.g. CZ, EE, MK, MT, PL, RS, SI), the underdevelopment of in-home care (e.g. CH, CZ, LT, MK, PL, SI); cuts in public expenditure on LTC services (UK) or a glaring lack of investment (e.g. IE, RO, SI, TR) for dependent persons, as well as inconsistencies or inadequacy in the general LTC system (e.g. HR, HU, RS), or a lack of coordination (e.g. CH, LT). All of these engender a strong disincentive effect on employment, which affects especially women, who are constrained to reduce or to leave their job.

Changes in the demand for LTC

Experts also note the rapid growth of needs, mainly due to the strong increase in the number of very old people (80+). Given this ageing society phenomenon, combined with the move away from residential care toward in-home services, home care services should be increased more quickly than the demographic trend, as explained by the Slovakian expert. In order to deal with this difficulty, some countries are developing new residential homes. For instance, in Denmark a new type of private accommodation has recently been rolled out: a mix between housing for the elderly and ordinary rental accommodation with associated permanent staff. Another socio-demographic phenomenon also plays a key role in the work-life balance: housing arrangements (size of housing, medical beds, toilets, etc.) and co-residence between the carer and the severely disabled person (e.g. IT, PL).

The gender issue

There is a huge difference between the Nordic countries, in which caring for an older family member is not a legal or social obligation, and some Southern countries, where it is an obligation especially for women (e.g. CY, MT, TR). Moreover, ESPN experts insist on the high sensitivity of women in employment to the new reforms in LTC for dependent people. Experts note that women are less and less prone to withdraw from their job (e.g. FR, MT, PT). Furthermore, within the working life cycle, one age group is particularly sensitive to these obligations and changes: people 45-65 years old, sometimes called the 'sandwich generation'. An econometric study in Cyprus concludes that there is a strong and negative effect on female employment, except (perhaps paradoxically) for those caring for very old people, where the effect seems statistically insignificant. Several

experts also consider the employment rate of these women as an indirect indicator or a proxy variable of the general changes in LTC policies (DK, LU).

Skills for caring

Caring for dependent persons at home is often considered as an unskilled job which affects the employment of female lower educated workers (NL). Furthermore, there is a segment of the grey or black labour market in which unskilled workers and certain migrants are supplying the work force ('work for cash'). This leads to an official or apparent work-life balance of women in the family, combined with low paid work of an unskilled person at home. For example, given the econometric regression in Cyprus, 'Live-in domestic workers have a strong positive and statistically significant effect on female employment' (CY national report).

The structure of the labour market

The choice between working in a job and caring for a family member also depends on the structure of the labour market. When the labour market is open to the development of part-time and flexible working hours, reconciling a job and caring at home is feasible, especially for women (with the extreme and exceptional example of the Netherlands, where the female part-time rate represents more than half of female employment). In contrast, in countries where this opportunity is rare or difficult, such as in Greece, Croatia (culture), in Lithuania (employer attitudes), Romania or Serbia, experts consider that the structure itself pushes female workers out of the labour market.

Impact of care allowances on employment

The impact of care allowances on employment varies considerably according to the following factors: the level of allowances, the carer's (family) income, the structure of the labour market (female/male, grey labour market, etc.), the availability of public or private services. When the allowances are relatively high (e.g. DE, LT), they increase people's options and this leads to more people choosing not to take up or continue in employment. In this case, women under pressure to care for a dependent family member will compare their wage on the labour market to the carer's allowance, and more generally to family income resources. When the cash benefit is low, some ESPN experts (e.g. CH, IT, PT) conclude that it is too low to have a substantial effect on the choice of a relative to move from their job to caring for a dependent family member. However, others point to the specific segment of the labour market with unskilled workers, low pay and undeclared work. In this case, even a low allowance may have a disincentive effect (e.g. BE, IE, SK, UK).

Impact of benefits for carers on well-being

As discussed in Section 2.1, few countries provide data on the well-being of caregivers or of the cared-for persons. When information is available, the impact of benefits for caregivers on their well-being (and on that of the recipients of care) is assessed through three indicators: a) the income poverty of the family, b) the increase or decrease in the purchasing power of the family due to the disability of the cared-for person and c) the subjective well-being (often health) of the caregivers.

The risk of poverty or impoverishment is affected to a greater or lesser degree by the accumulation of different types of income in the family. Sometimes, the combination of care allowances or part-time employment with part-time care leave reduces the risk of poverty (e.g. BE, CZ), while in other countries, the allowances are so low that no substantial change in the family income can plausibly be expected (e.g. HR, IT, PL, SK). When unpaid leave is not compensated for by any allowance, the consequence is some impoverishment of the household (e.g. EL, FR).

In terms of purchasing power, care allowances do not always offset the extra costs resulting from the situation of dependence (e.g. the cost of care and private services). They therefore contribute to a deterioration in the well-being of carers and of the cared-

for person: this is amongst others the case in AT (full-time formal inpatient care), CH, CZ, ES, HR, SK and the UK.

The conclusion from very little available information is that a significant proportion of caregivers experience a good balance between work and informal care (IE, NL), while others point to subjective difficulties. Caregivers often complain about the negative effects of psychological stress (e.g. AT, EL, ES, UK), overworking and the burden of responsibility (IE, NL, UK) or burnout (TR). Consequently, the well-being of carers and the persons they care for is highly dependent on the availability and accessibility of services for dependent persons and also for their caregivers, especially respite support.

Budgetary constraints

Some experts (e.g. SE, UK) note that cuts in budgets resulting from economic austerity measures combined with a re-familialisation process may lock women into their traditional homemaker roles.

Overall, ESPN experts consider that the best way to reach the objective of a fair work life balance for people caring for dependent relatives in the family is to design and to implement a broad-based, comprehensive and coordinated policy of services to those receiving care.

ANNEX 1. Statistical annex

Employment rates of men and women aged 20-64											
	Women			Men			% point difference (Menwomen)				
	2010	2012	2014	2010	2012	2014	2010	2012	2014		
EU28	62.1	62.4	63.4	75.1	74.6	75.0	13.0	12.2	11.6		
EU15	63.2	63.5	64.3	76.1	75.3	75.3	12.9	11.8	11.0		
BE	61.6	61.7	62.9	73.5	72.7	71.6	11.9	11.0	8.7		
BG	60.8	60.2	62.0	68.6	65.8	68.1	7.8	5.6	6.1		
CZ	60.9	62.5	64.7	79.6	80.2	82.2	18.7	17.7	17.5		
DK	73.0	72.2	72.2	78.6	78.6	79.5	5.6	6.4	7.3		
DE	69.6	71.6	73.1	80.1	82.1	82.2	10.5	10.5	9.1		
EE	65.9	69.4	70.6	67.8	75.1	78.3	1.9	5.7	7.7		
IE	60.2	59.4	61.2	69.1	68.1	73.0	8.9	8.7	11.8		
EL	51.8	45.2	44.3	76.0	65.0	62.6	24.2	19.8	18.3		
ES	56.3	54.6	54.8	69.2	64.6	65.0	12.9	10.0	10.2		
FR	64.9	65.1	65.7	74.0	73.9	73.3	9.1	8.8	7.6		
HR	56.4	52.6	54.2	67.9	63.7	64.2	11.5	11.1	10.0		
IT	49.5	50.5	50.3	72.7	71.5	69.7	23.2	21.0	19.4		
CY	68.8	64.8	63.9	81.7	76.1	71.6	12.9	11.3	7.7		
LV	64.5	66.4	68.5	64.0	70.0	73.1	-0.5	3.6	4.6		
LT	65.0	67.9	70.6	63.5	69.1	73.1	-1.5	1.2	2.5		
LU	62.0	64.1	65.5	79.2	78.5	78.4	17.2	14.4	12.9		
HU	54.6	56.2	60.2	65.5	67.3	73.5	10.9	11.1	13.3		
MT	41.6	46.6	52.0	78.2	79.2	80.4	36.6	32.6	28.4		
NL	70.8	71.0	69.7	82.8	82.3	81.1	12.0	11.3	11.4		
AT	68.8	69.6	70.1	79.0	79.3	78.3	10.2	9.7	8.2		
PL	57.3	57.5	59.4	71.3	72.0	73.6	14.0	14.5	14.2		
PT	65.6	63.0	64.2	75.4	69.8	71.3	9.8	6.8	7.1		
RO	56.5	56.7	57.3	73.1	72.8	74.0	16.6	16.1	16.7		
SI	66.5	64.6	63.6	74.0	71.8	71.6	7.5	7.2	8.0		
SK	57.4	57.3	58.6	71.9	72.8	73.2	14.5	15.5	14.6		
FI	71.5	72.5	72.1	74.5	75.5	74.0	3.0	3.0	1.9		
SE	75.0	76.8	77.6	81.1	81.9	82.2	6.1	5.1	4.6		
UK	67.9	68.4	70.6	79.3	80.0	81.9	11.4	11.6	11.3		
IS	77.6	79.1	80.5	83.1	84.4	86.5	5.5	5.3	6.0		
NO	76.9	77.3	77.1	82.1	82.4	81.9	5.2	5.1	4.8		
СН	74.6	76.0	77.4	87.6	87.9	87.1	13.0	11.9	9.7		
MK	37.5	38.7	40.8	58.4	57.5	61.6	20.9	18.8	20.8		
TR	28.0	30.9	31.6	72.7	75.0	75.0	44.7	44.1	43.4		

Source: Eurostat. LFS

Employment rates of men and women aged 55-64

		Women			Men		% poin		ce (Men-
								women	-
	2010	2012	2014	2010	2012	2014	2010	2012	2014
EU28	38.5	41.7	45.2	54.5	56.2	58.8	16.0	14.5	13.6
EU15	40.9	44.2	47.8	56.2	57.8	60.2	15.3	13.6	12.4
BE	29.2	33.1	37.0	45.6	46.0	48.4	16.4	12.9	11.4
BG	39.2	41.3	46.0	51.3	50.8	54.5	12.1	9.5	8.5
CZ	35.5	39.0	43.8	58.4	60.3	64.8	22.9	21.3	21.0
DK	53.6	55.8	57.6	63.3	65.9	68.9	9.7	10.1	11.3
DE	50.5	54.9	60.0	65.0	68.6	71.4	14.5	13.7	11.4
EE	55.3	61.5	63.1	51.9	59.2	65.1	-3.4	-2.3	2.0
IE	42.1	42.7	44.7	58.2	55.8	61.4	16.1	13.1	16.7
EL	29.1	26.1	25.0	56.5	47.7	44.0	27.4	21.6	19.0
ES	33.1	36.0	37.8	54.5	52.1	51.2	21.4	16.1	13.4
FR	37.3	41.6	45.2	42.3	47.5	48.8	5.0	5.9	3.6
HR	28.5	27.7	27.3	50.5	48.0	45.8	22.0	20.3	18.5
IT	26.1	30.8	36.6	47.6	50.4	56.5	21.5	19.6	19.9
CY	42.5	38.2	36.9	70.5	63.5	57.1	28.0	25.3	20.2
LV	48.4	52.5	56.4	46.9	53.2	56.3	-1.5	0.7	-0.1
LT	45.5	48.5	54.3	52.1	55.9	58.8	6.6	7.4	4.5
LU	31.3	34.3	35.0	47.7	47.4	49.8	16.4	13.1	14.8
HU	29.4	31.7	35.2	38.6	41.4	49.6	9.2	9.7	14.4
MT	14.1	16.3	19.9	50.0	53.1	55.7	35.9	36.8	35.8
NL	42.8	48.3	50.4	64.5	66.9	69.4	21.7	18.6	19.0
AT	33.0	33.5	36.4	49.9	50.2	54.3	16.9	16.7	17.9
PL	24.2	29.2	32.9	45.2	49.3	53.1	21.0	20.1	20.2
PT	43.8	42.0	42.1	55.8	51.6	54.3	12.0	9.6	12.2
RO	32.6	33.1	34.2	49.9	51.2	53.2	17.3	18.1	19.0
SI	24.5	25.0	29.0	45.5	40.7	41.8	21.0	15.7	12.8
SK	28.7	33.6	37.2	54.0	53.6	53.1	25.3	20.0	15.9
FI	56.9	59.7	61.4	55.6	56.6	56.8	-1.3	-3.1	-4.6
SE	66.9	69.6	71.5	74.0	76.3	76.5	7.1	6.7	5.0
UK	49.5	51.0	54.4	65.1	65.4	67.8	15.6	14.4	13.4
IS	76.4	75.0	80.1	83.2	83.1	87.1	6.8	8.1	7.0
NO	65.0	66.9	68.5	72.2	74.8	75.8	7.2	7.9	7.3
СН	58.5	61.5	64.4	77.6	79.5	78.7	19.1	18.0	14.3
MK	22.4	24.5	27.1	46.7	46.6	50.3	24.3	22.1	23.2
TR	17.1	18.0	17.5	42.7	46.3	45.6	25.6	28.3	28.1

Source: Eurostat. LFS

Proportion of men and women who are taking care of children (and relatives or aged 15 or more)

			25-49 ud Women						50	-64		
		and men	Wo	men	M	len		and men	Wo	men	М	en
	Not caring	Caring	Not caring	Caring	Not caring	Caring	Not caring	Caring	Not caring	Caring	Not caring	Caring
EU28	94.5	5.5	93.0	7.0	96.0	4.0	88.6	11.4	85.8	14.2	91.4	8.6
EU15	94.6	5.4	93.0	7.0	96.2	3.8	87.6	12.4	84.4	15.6	90.8	9.2
BE	96.9	3.1	96.4	3.6	97.4	2.6	94.1	5.9	93.2	6.8	94.9	5.1
BG	91.3	8.7	90.3	9.7	92.1	7.9	86.8	13.2	85.9	14.1	87.7	12.3
CZ	95.9	4.1	94.9	5.1	96.8	3.2	90.1	9.9	88.0	12.0	92.2	7.8
DK	98.0	2.0	97.1	2.9	98.8	1.2	95.5	4.5	94.0	6.0	97.0	3.0
DE	98.2	1.8	97.6	2.4	98.8	1.2	94.9	5.1	93.4	6.6	96.4	3.6
EE	96.0	4.0	95.0	5.0	97.1	2.9	90.5	9.5	88.6	11.4	92.9	7.1
IE	94.6	5.4	93.2	6.8	96.0	4.0	90.0	10.0	87.8	12.2	92.1	7.9
ES	93.2	6.8	91.1	8.9	95.2	4.8	84.1	15.9	79.6	20.4	88.8	11.2
EL	94.8	5.2	92.9	7.1	96.7	3.3	91.0	9.0	87.5	12.5	94.3	5.7
FR	95.2	4.8	93.8	6.2	96.5	3.5	84.8	15.2	81.7	18.3	87.9	12.1
HR	93.2	6.8	91.5	8.5	94.9	5.1	91.2	8.8	90.3	9.7	92.2	7.8
IT	92.8	7.2	90.6	9.4	95.0	5.0	84.5	15.5	80.4	19.6	88.5	11.5
CY	87.6	12.4	84.9	15.1	90.6	9.4	69.8	30.2	62.7	37.3	76.6	23.4
LV	95.8	4.2	94.6	5.4	97.0	3.0	90.3	9.7	88.2	11.8	92.9	7.1
LT	99.4	0.6	98.8	1.2			97.3	2.7	96.7	3.3	97.9	2.1
LU	94.7	5.3	93.4	6.6	96.1	3.9	89.4	10.6	85.5	14.5	92.9	7.1
MT	94.1	5.9	91.4	8.6	96.6	3.4	89.6	10.4	87.1	12.9	92.0	8.0
HU	95.0	5.0	93.9	6.1	96.1	3.9	90.7	9.3	89.0	11.0	92.5	7.5
NL	90.9	9.1	87.9	12.1	93.8	6.2	80.3	19.7	73.5	26.5	86.7	13.3
AT	92.3	7.7	90.4	9.6	94.2	5.8	86.5	13.5	82.5	17.5	90.3	9.7
PL	96.4	3.6	95.4	4.6	97.3	2.7	92.8	7.2	90.9	9.1	94.7	5.3
PT	94.4	5.6	92.5	7.5	96.2	3.8	88.1	11.9	83.9	16.1	92.4	7.6
RO	90.6	9.4	88.9	11.1	92.3	7.7	92.4	7.6	93.5	6.5	91.1	8.9
SI	90.0	10.0	88.5	11.5	91.5	8.5	84.5	15.5	81.9	18.1	87.1	12.9
SK	95.1	4.9	93.8	6.2	96.3	3.7	92.0	8.0	90.1	9.9	94.1	5.9
FI	90.4	9.6	88.8	11.2	91.9	8.1	81.7	18.3	78.9	21.1	84.5	15.5
SE	97.6	2.4	96.8	3.2	98.5	1.5	94.2	5.8	92.8	7.2	95.6	4.4
UK	93.7	6.3	91.9	8.1	95.4	4.6	85.4	14.6	81.9	18.1	88.8	11.2
IS	71.4	28.6	67.3	32.7	75.6	24.4	49.9	50.1	39.0	61.0	59.8	40.2
NO	97.4	2.6	96.8	3.2	97.9	2.1	91.7	8.3	89.1	10.9	94.2	5.8
MK	87.8	12.2	86.0	14.0	89.5	10.5	85.6	14.4	82.7	17.3	88.2	11.8

Source: LFS ad hoc module. 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Note: Missing data and unreliable data (because the number of observations is too small) are in blank

The person regularly takes care of relatives/friends aged 15 or more in need of care

% of the total

	Women	% of the total
EU28	60.2	39.8
EU15	60.8	39.2
BE	57.0	43.0
BG	52.7	47.3
CZ	59.4	40.6
DK	72.8	27.2
DE	64.8	35.2
EE	68.5	31.5
IE	58.6	41.4
EL	62.7	37.3
ES	62.4	37.6
HR	59.3	40.7
FR	58.5	41.5
IT	60.7	39.3
CY	58.9	41.1
LT	72.6	27.4
LV	64.6	35.4
LU	60.2	39.8
MT	66.7	33.3
HU	59.8	40.2
NL	63.5	36.5
AT	62.0	38.0
PL	60.9	39.1
PT	66.0	34.0
RO	56.0	44.0
SI	55.4	44.6
SK	62.2	37.8
FI	57.4	42.6
SE	60.5	39.5
UK	58.8	41.2
IS	54.0	46.0
NO	62.9	37.1
MK	51.6	48.4

Source: LFS ad hoc module. 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Men and women regularly taking care of relatives/friends aged 15 or more in need of care, 2010

	•	% breakd	own by	y educa	ation leve	I		%	breako	lown by	age	
	Re	gularly car	ing	Not	regularly ca	aring	Reg	ularly ca	ring	Not re	egularly	caring
	Low	Medium	High	Low	Medium	High	15-24	25-49	50-64	15-24	25-49	50-64
EU28	31.4	45.8	22.8	30.5	46.7	22.8	4.6	47.8	47.6	18.6	54.2	27.2
EU15	35.2	40.2	24.6	33.1	42.4	24.5	4.6	45.5	49.9	18.1	54.9	27.0
BE	28.9	39.6	31.5	32.1	37.2	30.8	1.7	51.1	47.2	19.0	52.2	28.8
BG	19.9	59.9	20.1	25.4	54.9	19.7	5.7	57.6	36.8	19.2	54.9	25.9
cz	11.5	75.8	12.6	14.3	70.8	14.9	4.2	43.0	52.8	18.6	53.5	27.9
DK	22.2	41.8	36.0	31.9	40.7	27.5		42.5	57.5	19.1	51.9	29.0
DE	7.2	67.0	25.8	21.0	56.8	22.2		35.6	64.4	18.3	51.1	30.6
EE		62.6	37.4	18.6	51.7	29.7		46.0	54.0	21.6	52.3	26.1
IE	28.5	39.2	32.3	30.3	36.7	33.0	3.9	56.4	39.7	21.0	57.1	21.9
EL	49.3	33.8	16.9	37.3	41.1	21.6	1.6	57.0	41.3	15.9	57.4	26.7
ES	50.7	20.8	28.4	47.7	24.1	28.2	4.3	49.0	46.7	15.1	60.4	24.5
HR	24.5	63.0	12.5	26.0	57.6	16.4		51.0	49.0	20.5	43.8	35.8
FR	28.3	45.5	26.2	30.0	42.2	27.8	3.1	38.3	58.7	19.7	53.6	26.7
IT	41.9	43.3	14.8	46.1	40.7	13.1	3.9	49.5	46.6	16.3	57.8	25.9
CY	22.4	42.3	35.3	29.1	37.9	33.0	3.9	52.5	43.6	20.7	59.1	20.1
LT		90.6	9.4	18.3	54.8	26.9		13.8	86.2	21.6	53.5	24.9
LV		66.5	33.5	19.5	58.1	22.5		53.6	46.4	21.8	51.9	26.3
LU	21.2	56.4	22.4	25.4	41.3	33.2		55.8	44.2	14.0	60.9	25.1
MT								47.4	52.6	21.5	49.2	29.3
HU	23.4	61.0	15.6	23.9	58.6	17.5	3.3	50.3	46.4	18.5	53.0	28.6
NL	25.2	41.8	33.0	31.6	40.1	28.4	5.2	44.8	50.1	20.5	52.9	26.6
AT	20.0	62.0	18.0	23.5	60.5	16.0	0.9	58.3	40.8	18.9	55.7	25.3
PL	12.4	70.2	17.4	18.3	62.5	19.3	4.1	47.0	48.9	20.6	50.8	28.6
PT	82.4	10.2	7.4	65.9	19.6	14.6	2.3	51.6	46.1	17.1	57.3	25.6
RO	20.7	67.5	11.9	30.8	57.3	11.8	2.1	77.1	20.8	20.7	52.3	27.0
SI	16.5	63.8	19.7	20.8	58.6	20.6	6.2	53.8	40.0	17.5	54.9	27.6
SK	7.7	77.7	14.6	16.6	68.6	14.8	2.1	56.9	41.1	21.0	53.3	25.7
FI	18.6	44.6	36.7	23.2	45.4	31.3	4.1	42.6	53.3	19.5	49.5	31.0
SE	19.5	47.8	32.7	23.0	48.1	28.9	3.1	39.9	57.0	20.8	50.7	28.5
UK	31.6	40.0	28.4	25.8	42.6	31.6	5.8	45.6	48.6	19.5	55.0	25.5
IS	36.7	29.1	34.1	41.4	33.1	25.4	8.4	57.5	34.0	23.7	57.5	18.8
NO	16.5	47.0	36.6	25.2	43.4	31.4	1.8	35.0	63.2	20.3	52.1	27.5
MK	27.4	54.4	18.1	36.2	50.2	13.5		66.8	26.8	24.4	54.2	21.4

Source: LFS ad hoc module, 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Note: Missing data and unreliable data (because the number of observations is too small) are in blank.

Women regularly taking care of relatives/friends aged 15 or more in need of care, 2010

	%	breakdo	wn by e	ducati	on level			%	breakd	lown by	age	
	Regi	ularly carin	g	Not	regularly c	aring	Regu	ularly ca	ring	Not re	gularly c	aring
	Low	Medium	High	Low	Medium	High	15-24	25-49	50- 64	15-24	25-49	50-64
EU28	32.4	44.3	23.3	30.4	45.4	24.1	4.2	48.8	47.0	18.5	54.1	27.4
EU15	36.0	39.2	24.8	32.8	41.8	25.4	4.2	46.9	49.0	18.1	54.9	26.9
BE	28.2	41.1	30.8	31.4	35.8	32.7	1.7	50.7	47.6	19.0	52.4	28.6
BG	18.8	54.2	27.0	24.9	50.7	24.4	5.6	57.3	37.1	18.8	54.0	27.2
cz	14.4	74.5	11.1	16.5	68.7	14.8	4.5	43.0	52.5	18.5	53.2	28.3
DK	26.6	36.4	37.0	31.2	38.7	30.1		45.8	54.2	19.1	52.1	28.8
DE	9.5	65.9	24.5	22.7	57.2	20.1		35.7	64.3	18.3	50.1	31.5
EE		55.1	44.9	15.4	47.0	37.7		44.5	55.5	20.8	51.6	27.6
IE	24.1	40.3	35.6	27.3	36.1	36.6	3.5	58.2	38.2	21.3	57.3	21.4
EL	49.3	34.4	16.3	34.4	42.9	22.7	2.3	56.8	41.0	16.4	57.4	26.3
ES	51.2	21.0	27.8	45.2	24.5	30.3	4.2	48.6	47.2	15.2	60.0	24.8
HR	28.5	56.7	14.8	30.1	51.9	18.0		54.9	45.1	19.5	43.6	36.9
FR	29.5	42.9	27.6	30.6	40.2	29.2	2.0	42.8	55.2	19.4	54.3	26.3
IT	41.4	42.6	16.0	44.1	40.9	15.0	3.7	50.8	45.5	16.2	58.3	25.5
CY	22.0	42.8	35.3	29.1	35.1	35.8	5.0	55.0	40.0	21.6	60.8	17.6
LT		86.4	13.6	16.4	51.5	32.1		17.3	82.7	20.9	51.2	27.9
LV		63.3	36.7	15.7	55.7	28.6		53.8	46.2	20.8	52.4	26.8
LU	26.7	57.4	15.9	27.6	41.9	30.5		58.0	42.0	14.2	62.1	23.7
MT				58.0	27.1	14.9		48.0	52.0	21.5	49.0	29.5
HU	26.4	56.9	16.7	25.5	54.4	20.0	3.3	49.9	46.9	18.1	52.1	29.8
NL	26.9	44.3	28.8	32.2	40.3	27.5	4.5	45.9	49.6	21.2	53.9	25.0
AT	24.7	58.1	17.2	26.6	58.9	14.5	1.4	58.5	40.1	19.3	56.2	24.5
PL	12.0	68.4	19.6	17.6	59.3	23.0	3.7	47.0	49.4	20.3	50.5	29.2
PT	81.2	9.8	9.0	61.7	20.0	18.3	2.8	51.8	45.4	16.8	57.6	25.6
RO	24.1	64.8	11.0	33.7	54.3	12.0	2.7	78.1	19.1	20.4	51.5	28.1
SI	16.5	60.6	22.9	22.0	52.4	25.6	5.8	53.8	40.4	16.9	55.5	27.6
SK	9.6	76.5	13.9	17.7	65.8	16.6	2.9	55.8	41.3	20.8	52.8	26.3
FI	15.3	42.2	42.5	21.0	42.4	36.6	4.0	43.8	52.2	19.8	49.7	30.5
SE	18.4	45.2	36.4	22.8	43.5	33.7	3.3	41.7	55.0	20.7	50.7	28.6
UK	34.0	37.0	29.0	26.7	40.3	33.0	5.6	47.4	47.1	19.4	55.5	25.1
IS	31.9	25.6	42.5	41.4	28.4	30.3	5.9	59.0	35.1	24.2	60.1	15.7
NO	17.5	42.6	39.9	24.4	40.2	35.3	2.2	35.6	62.2	20.3	52.7	27.0
MK	37.6	44.3	18.2	41.1	44.5	14.3	5.9	69.6	24.5	24.6	54.6	20.8

Source: LFS ad hoc module, 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Note: Missing data and unreliable data (because the number of observations is too small) are in blank.

Men regularly taking care of relatives/friends aged 15 or more in need of care, 2010

		% break	down b	y educa	tion level			%	breakdo	own by a	ige	
	Re	gularly ca	ring	Not r	egularly o	aring	Regu	ularly ca	aring	Not re	gularly	caring
	Low	Medium	High	Low	Mediu m	High	15-24	25-49	50-64	15-24	25-49	50-64
EU28	29.9	48.0	22.0	30.6	47.8	21.6	5.3	46.1	48.6	18.7	54.3	27.1
EU15	34.0	41.6	24.4	33.4	43.1	23.6	5.3	43.4	51.3	18.1	54.8	27.1
BE	29.8	37.6	32.6	32.7	38.4	28.9	1.7	51.7	46.6	19.0	52.0	29.0
BG	21.2	66.2	12.6	25.9	58.9	15.2	5.7	57.9	36.4	19.6	55.8	24.5
CZ	7.3	77.8	14.9	12.3	72.7	15.0	3.7	43.0	53.3	18.8	53.7	27.5
DK	7.1	60.4	32.6	32.5	42.6	25.0		32.4	67.6	19.2	51.6	29.2
DE	2.7	69.2	28.1	19.5	56.4	24.1		35.3	64.7	18.3	51.9	29.7
EE		80.8	19.2	21.9	56.8	21.3		49.7	50.3	22.4	53.0	24.5
IE	34.8	37.5	27.6	33.2	37.3	29.5	4.4	53.8	41.8	20.7	56.9	22.4
EL	49.1	32.8	18.1	40.0	39.4	20.7	0.5	57.5	42.0	15.5	57.4	27.1
ES	50.0	20.6	29.4	49.9	23.8	26.3	4.5	49.6	45.9	15.0	60.8	24.2
HR	18.4	72.6	9.0	22.0	63.3	14.7		44.9	55.1	21.4	43.9	34.7
FR	26.5	49.3	24.2	29.5	44.1	26.4	4.6	31.7	63.7	20.0	52.9	27.2
IT	42.6	44.5	12.9	48.0	40.6	11.4	4.2	47.5	48.2	16.4	57.3	26.3
CY	23.1	41.7	35.3	29.0	40.7	30.3	2.4	48.8	48.8	19.9	57.5	22.6
LT				20.3	58.3	21.4				22.8	52.6	24.5
LV		72.5	27.5	23.4	60.4	16.2		53.0	47.0	22.4	54.6	23.0
LU	12.7	54.9	32.4	23.4	40.8	35.8		52.5	47.5	13.8	59.8	26.4
MT				56.8	29.0	14.3		46.2	53.8	21.5	49.3	29.2
HU	18.9	67.1	14.0	22.3	62.7	15.0	3.3	50.9	45.7	18.8	53.8	27.4
NL	22.3	37.5	40.2	31.0	39.9	29.1	6.3	42.9	50.8	20.0	52.0	28.0
AT	12.2	68.5	19.4	20.5	62.0	17.5		58.0	42.0	18.6	55.3	26.1
PL	13.1	72.9	13.9	18.9	65.5	15.6	4.8	47.0	48.2	20.8	51.2	28.1
PT	84.9	11.0	4.1	69.8	19.2	11.1	1.4	51.2	47.4	17.4	56.9	25.6
RO	16.2	70.8	12.9	28.0	60.3	11.7	1.2	75.8	23.0	21.0	53.1	25.9
SI	16.6	67.7	15.6	19.7	64.2	16.1	6.8	53.8	39.4	18.1	54.4	27.5
SK	4.7	79.6	15.7	15.6	71.2	13.2	0.7	58.6	40.7	21.1	53.8	25.1
FI	23.1	47.9	29.0	25.3	48.3	26.4	4.2	41.0	54.8	19.2	49.4	31.4
SE	21.1	51.9	27.0	23.2	52.5	24.3	2.7	37.2	60.1	20.9	50.7	28.4
UK	28.2	44.2	27.6	25.0	44.6	30.4	6.1	43.2	50.7	19.5	54.7	25.8
IS	42.4	33.4	24.2	41.5	37.0	21.5	11.5	55.8	32.7	23.3	55.4	21.3
NO	14.8	54.4	30.8	25.9	46.4	27.7	1.1	34.1	64.8	20.3	51.6	28.1
MK	16.6	65.3	18.1	31.9	55.4	12.8	6.9	63.8	29.2	24.1	53.8	22.0

Source: LFS ad hoc module, 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Note: Missing data and unreliable data (because the number of observations is too small) are in blank.

Work-life balance measures

A study of national policies

Proportion of men and women who are taking care of children (relatives and aged 15 and more) by employment status, 2010

			Woi	men					M	en				ı	Men and	wome	n	
		Caring		N	lot carir	ng		Caring		N	lot carir	ng		Caring		N	lot carii	ng
	Empl.	Un- empl.	Inact.	Empl.	Un- empl.	Inact.												
									25-49									
EU28	65.1	8.0	26.9	72.8	7.1	20.1	81.7	9.1	9.3	84.6	8.0	7.4	71.1	8.4	20.5	78.9	7.6	13.5
EU15	64.1	8.4	27.5	72.8	7.1	20.1	81.0	9.4	9.6	84.8	8.0	7.2	70.0	8.7	21.2	79.0	7.6	13.4
BE	72.1		27.9	76.4	5.7	17.9	0.0			85.8	7.0	7.1	82.6		17.4	81.2	6.4	12.4
BG	70.2	7.8	22.0	75.0	6.6	18.4	77.2	11.0	11.8	78.9	8.4	12.7	73.3	9.2	17.4	77.0	7.5	15.5
CZ	79.5	4.9	15.7	71.6	6.3	22.1	89.6	5.7	4.7	91.1	4.9	3.9	83.5	5.2	11.3	81.7	5.6	12.8
DK	72.1		27.9	80.7	4.8	14.5	76.3		23.7	84.7	7.4	7.9	73.2		26.8	82.7	6.1	11.1
DE	79.1		20.9	77.5	5.2	17.3	85.2		14.8	86.8	6.8	6.5	81.4		18.6	82.4	6.0	11.6
EE				73.8	10.1	16.1				77.9	15.5	6.7				75.8	12.8	11.4
IE	57.4	5.8	36.8	67.0	6.6	26.4	71.3	13.9	14.8	76.0	14.9	9.1	62.5	8.8	28.7	71.6	10.8	17.6
ES	54.9	16.8	28.3	65.4	15.7	18.9	73.2	20.0	6.8	75.9	17.2	6.9	61.5	17.9	20.5	70.8	16.5	12.7
EL	52.5	9.0	38.5	65.6	11.7	22.7	90.5	6.4	3.1	86.5	8.8	4.6	65.0	8.2	26.8	76.5	10.2	13.3
FR	85.3		14.7	78.4	6.5	15.1	93.0		7.0	87.5	6.7	5.7	87.8		12.2	83.0	6.6	10.4
HR	61.2	9.9	28.9	69.6	9.7	20.7	81.9		18.1	75.5	8.8	15.7	68.2	6.5	25.2	72.5	9.3	18.2
IT	53.9	8.3	37.8	60.9	6.0	33.1	84.1	8.2	7.7	83.6	6.1	10.2	64.5	8.3	27.2	72.6	6.1	21.3
CY	72.1	5.7	22.3	79.7	4.2	16.1	89.9	7.8	2.3	88.6	5.2	6.2	78.5	6.4	15.1	84.1	4.7	11.3
LV				72.9	13.2	13.9				73.1	17.7	9.3				73.0	15.5	11.6
LT				77.0	11.5	11.5				69.7	19.3	11.0				73.4	15.4	11.2
LU	75.0		25.0	75.2	4.1	20.7	94.3		5.7	92.8	3.1	4.1	82.8		17.2	84.2	3.6	12.2
MT				55.5		44.5	95.2		4.8	89.2	6.2	4.6	33.3		66.7	73.5	3.3	23.2
HU	53.5	7.9	38.6	68.2	7.4	24.4	71.3	9.8	18.8	79.9	9.7	10.4	60.4	8.7	30.9	74.1	8.6	17.3

-	_			-			_					_						_
NL	78.2	4.1	17.7	81.3	2.8	16.0	85.8	3.8	10.4	91.1	3.3	5.6	80.8	4.0	15.2	86.4	3.0	10.6
AT	79.3		20.7	81.6	2.8	15.6	89.8		10.2	89.7	3.8	6.5	83.1		16.9	85.7	3.3	11.0
PL	70.7	5.4	23.9	74.0	7.1	18.9	79.6	8.5	11.9	84.7	7.3	8.0	74.1	6.6	19.3	79.5	7.2	13.3
PT	73.7	10.1	16.2	76.8	11.0	12.2	85.4		14.6	84.4	8.6	7.1	77.6	6.8	15.6	80.7	9.8	9.6
RO	70.4	4.7	24.9	72.2	4.5	23.3	92.0	4.9	3.1	87.4	6.1	6.6	79.3	4.8	15.9	80.0	5.3	14.7
SK	67.5	9.9	22.7	69.9	11.0	19.1	73.4	18.9	7.7	82.1	11.9	6.0	69.7	13.3	17.0	76.2	11.4	12.4
SI	81.9	7.1	11.0	85.6	5.6	8.9	84.4	7.1	8.6	86.4	6.7	6.9	83.0	7.1	9.9	86.0	6.2	7.8
FI	81.4	5.6	13.0	78.4	5.4	16.2	83.5	6.0	10.5	85.8	6.6	7.7	82.3	5.8	12.0	82.2	6.0	11.8
SE	83.1		16.9	81.6	5.8	12.7	92.4		7.6	87.9	6.0	6.1	86.3		13.7	84.8	5.9	9.3
UK	64.9	4.5	30.6	75.3	4.4	20.3	72.9	8.9	18.1	86.6	6.0	7.4	67.9	6.1	26.0	81.1	5.2	13.6
IS	91.7		8.3	74.2	7.0	18.8	0.0			87.6	6.5	5.9	95.0		5.0	81.3	6.7	11.9
NO	82.3		17.7	82.6	2.3	15.1	86.9		13.1	87.8	3.0	9.2	84.1		15.9	85.2	2.6	12.1
MK	41.1	21.7	37.2	46.6	23.1	30.2	71.1	28.9		65.6	27.3	7.1	53.7	24.8	21.6	56.6	25.3	18.1
								5	0-64									
EU28	48.1	3.0	49.0	50.5	3.6	45.9	61.8	4.6	33.6	65.0	5.2	29.8	53.2	3.6	43.2	58.0	4.4	37.7
EU15	48.6	3.0	48.4	52.5	3.6	43.9	62.0	4.6	33.4	66.8	5.2	28.0	53.5	3.6	42.9	59.9	4.4	35.7
EUIS																		
BE	40.9		59.1	41.7	3.2	55.2	63.0		37.0	60.7	3.3	36.0	49.7		50.3	51.5	3.2	45.3
BG	50.7		49.3	49.4	4.5	46.1	61.1		38.9	58.6	5.4	36.0	55.1		44.9	53.8	4.9	41.2
cz	52.1	2.5	45.5	50.3	3.9	45.8	69.4	4.0	26.6	67.7	4.5	27.9	58.8	3.1	38.2	59.1	4.2	36.7
	73.0		27.0	63.5	2.5	34.0	66.7		33.3	69.7	5.7	24.6	70.9		29.1	66.7	4.2	29.1
DK																		
DE	59.7		40.3	59.5	4.4	36.1	71.4		28.6	71.7	6.1	22.2	63.8		36.2	65.7	5.3	29.1
EE	66.0		34.0	62.9	8.9	28.2				60.2	13.2	26.6	74.2		25.8	61.7	10.9	27.5
	51.0		49.0	51.9	2.9	45.2	63.3	8.5	28.1	64.5	8.3	27.2	55.9	3.4	40.7	58.5	5.7	35.8
IE	31.0		49.0	51.9	2.9	45.2	03.3	0.0	28. I	04.5	0.3	21.2	33.9	3.4	40.7	56.5	5.7	33.6

ES	42.8	6.2	51.0	41.6	7.5	50.9	62.8	10.7	26.4	62.9	10.6	26.5	49.7	7.7	42.6	52.5	9.1	38.4
EL	39.0	3.2	57.8	39.0	3.6	57.4	67.9	6.5	25.6	68.7	4.7	26.6	48.3	4.3	47.4	54.6	4.2	41.2
FR	49.6		50.4	53.7	3.5	42.7	60.2		39.8	57.4	4.1	38.5	53.5		46.5	55.6	3.8	40.5
HR	50.2		49.8	39.6	3.7	56.8	69.3		30.7	55.9	4.7	39.4	58.7		41.3	47.4	4.2	48.4
IT	39.6	1.2	59.2	38.0	1.4	60.6	60.7	2.6	36.7	62.7	2.5	34.8	47.5	1.7	50.8	51.0	2.0	47.0
CY	55.3		44.7	55.7	2.4	41.9	83.3		16.7	79.0	2.9	18.2	66.4		33.6	68.9	2.7	28.4
LV	70.1		29.9	58.4	9.9	31.8				58.8	16.5	24.8	78.5		21.5	58.6	12.9	28.5
LT	47.3		52.7	56.0	8.9	35.1				60.2	13.0	26.8	47.3		52.7	57.9	10.8	31.3
LU	33.3		66.7	47.8	1.9	50.3	64.3		35.7	65.6	1.6	32.8	44.3		55.7	57.5	1.7	40.8
MT				19.9		80.1				65.1		34.9				43.5		56.5
ни	34.4	4.9	60.7	45.3	3.6	51.0	44.9	5.6	49.5	52.4	4.9	42.7	38.4	5.1	56.5	48.7	4.2	47.0
NL	54.8	2.4	42.9	55.5	2.1	42.4	66.6	3.1	30.3	74.4	2.8	22.8	58.9	2.6	38.5	66.0	2.5	31.5
AT	48.4		51.6	51.2	1.7	47.1	62.1		37.9	67.0	2.1	30.8	53.1		46.9	59.6	1.9	38.5
PL	41.1	2.1	56.8	40.8	3.2	56.0	59.9	3.9	36.3	56.0	5.0	39.0	47.8	2.7	49.5	48.4	4.1	47.5
PT	52.2		47.8	54.5	4.1	41.4	70.1		29.9	66.3	6.4	27.2	57.3		42.7	60.6	5.3	34.0
RO	47.0		53.0	43.6	1.4	55.0	74.1		25.9	61.6	3.3	35.1	58.9		41.1	52.3	2.3	45.3
SK	44.1	5.5	50.4	46.1	6.3	47.6	59.2	10.7	30.1	64.1	7.1	28.8	49.6	7.4	43.1	55.1	6.7	38.2
SI	46.8		53.2	42.5	2.5	55.0	60.1		39.9	57.7	3.3	38.9	52.4		47.6	50.5	2.9	46.6
FI	69.6	2.5	27.8	66.7	3.9	29.4	69.0	2.6	28.4	63.3	5.4	31.3	69.4	2.6	28.1	64.9	4.7	30.4
SE	74.8		25.2	73.3	3.6	23.2	82.9		17.1	78.9	4.7	16.4	77.9		22.1	76.1	4.2	19.7

Work-life balance measures A study of national policies

UK	53.5	1.7	44.9	59.7	2.0	38.3	61.9	4.9	33.1	72.4	4.5	23.1	56.8	2.9	40.3	66.4	3.3	30.3
IS	89.8		10.2	76.6		23.4				85.8		14.2	94.0		6.0	82.4		17.6
NO	79.5		20.5	70.5	8.0	28.7	82.2		17.8	77.3	1.5	21.2	80.5		19.5	74.0	1.2	24.8
МК	47.8		52.2	30.4	12.0	57.6	59.8	22.3	17.9	57.0	18.1	24.9	53.5	10.5	36.1	44.8	15.3	39.9

Source: LFS ad hoc module, 2010: Reconciliation between work and family life

Note: Missing data and unreliable data (because the number of observations is too small) are in blank. Empl: Employed; Unempl: Unemployed and

Inact: Inactive

Men and women who are able to vary start and finish times

	Total		Women		Men	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU			40.1	59.9	45.5	54.5
BE	53.5	46.5	49.4	50.6	57.2	42.8
BG	27.7	72.3	22.5	77.5	32.8	67.2
CZ	30.5	69.5	26.2	73.8	34.1	65.9
DK	64.7	35.3	59.9	40.1	69.2	30.8
DE	44.1	55.9	42.0	58.0	45.9	54.1
EE	35.9	64.1	29.9	70.1	42.0	58.0
IE	43.7	56.3	33.2	66.8	53.6	46.4
EL	35.5	64.5	28.6	71.4	40.3	59.7
ES	37.3	62.7	35.4	64.6	38.9	61.1
HR	24.0	76.0	22.2	77.8	25.6	74.4
FR	47.1	52.9	47.0	53.0	47.2	52.8
IT	40.6	59.4	32.1	67.9	46.5	53.5
CY	32.0	68.0	27.9	72.1	34.8	65.2
LT	37.1	62.9	33.3	66.7	40.8	59.2
LU	31.0	69.0	24.9	75.1	37.4	62.6
LV	47.1	52.9	44.1	55.9	49.7	50.3
MT	31.7	68.3	30.7	69.3	32.3	67.7
HU	18.2	81.8	19.9	80.1	16.6	83.4
NL	55.4	44.6	54.0	46.0	56.6	43.4
AT	39.4	60.6	34.4	65.6	43.8	56.2
PL	32.5	67.5	32.6	67.4	32.3	67.7
PT	34.2	65.8	27.0	73.0	40.1	59.9
RO	30.2	69.8	24.0	76.0	35.0	65.0
SI	27.6	72.4	28.4	71.6	27.0	73.0
SK	29.1	70.9	27.7	72.3	30.3	69.7
FI	64.2	35.8	60.5	39.5	68.0	32.0
SE	62.5	37.5	55.6	44.4	68.9	31.1
UK	55.9	44.1	52.9	47.1	58.8	41.2

Men and women who are able to vary start and finish times by age

as % of total in each age group

	18-	24	25-	34	35-	49	50-		65	
	Yes	No								
EU	37.2	62.8	42.3	57.7	42.8	57.2	45.0	55.0	71.5	28.5
BE	38.6	61.4	57.9	42.1	54.6	45.4	50.7	49.3		
BG	26.2	73.8	27.8	72.2	30.6	69.4	23.9	76.1	28.3	71.7
CZ	22.4	77.6	35.8	64.2	27.9	72.1	30.5	69.5	57.0	43.0
DK	34.5	65.5	66.0	34.0	69.8	30.2	61.8	38.2	55.9	44.1
DE	31.4	68.6	46.1	53.9	42.4	57.6	48.0	52.0	45.0	55.0
EE	26.5	73.5	33.5	66.5	42.8	57.2	32.6	67.4	33.6	66.4
IE	11.2	88.8	40.0	60.0	45.0	55.0	54.1	45.9	68.0	32.0
EL	11.2	88.8	36.7	63.3	37.9	62.1	34.1	65.9		
ES	41.1	58.9	35.5	64.5	35.3	64.7	43.0	57.0		
HR	13.6	86.4	21.7	78.3	25.5	74.5	27.0	73.0		
FR	37.8	62.2	49.5	50.5	47.0	53.0	47.7	52.3	68.3	31.7
IT	37.4	62.6	33.8	66.2	42.4	57.6	41.6	58.4	80.4	19.6
CY	29.5	70.5	33.6	66.4	29.6	70.4	35.0	65.0		
LT	54.7	45.3	43.0	57.0	33.6	66.4	30.9	69.1	78.9	21.1
LU	29.8	70.2	40.4	59.6	26.1	73.9	26.0	74.0	71.9	28.1
LV	38.7	61.3	37.6	62.4	50.2	49.8	55.9	44.1		
MT	26.0	74.0	32.5	67.5	27.9	72.1	37.9	62.1	68.6	31.4
HU	5.9	94.1	14.7	85.3	20.8	79.2	20.6	79.4	48.9	51.1
NL	38.9	61.1	53.2	46.8	58.5	41.5	56.1	43.9	81.5	18.5
AT	23.3	76.7	36.6	63.4	40.6	59.4	45.3	54.7	83.6	16.4
PL	29.1	70.9	32.7	67.3	31.4	68.6	35.6	64.4	63.8	36.2
PT	28.3	71.7	35.2	64.8	36.8	63.2	28.6	71.4	58.7	41.3
RO	35.3	64.7	36.3	63.7	27.7	72.3	22.4	77.6		
SI	28.8	71.2	23.5	76.5	25.1	74.9	39.8	60.2		
SK	21.1	78.9	23.0	77.0	37.3	62.7	21.5	78.5	78.6	21.4
FI	69.3	30.7	64.3	35.7	62.1	37.9	66.0	34.0	64.4	35.6
SE	44.0	56.0	65.9	34.1	63.1	36.9	62.8	37.2	78.5	21.5
UK	57.4	42.6	55.4	44.6	55.3	44.7	55.0	45.0	82.2	17.8

Men and women who are able to vary start and finish times by income level

as % of total in each income level group

			2nd l	oval	2 m of 1				ncome lev	
	Lo				3rd I		Hiç	-	Lo	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU	38.1	61.9	35.5	64.5	38.1	61.9	52.4	47.6	38.1	61.9
BE	49.5	50.5	39.2	60.8	51.8	48.2	62.1	37.9	49.5	50.5
BG	15.6	84.4	29.7	70.3	26.2	73.8	28.0	72.0	15.6	84.4
CZ	28.0	72.0	28.6	71.4	21.8	78.2	37.8	62.2	28.0	72.0
DK	53.4	46.6	60.5	39.5	65.9	34.1	71.0	29.0	53.4	46.6
DE	30.6	69.4	34.2	65.8	36.2	63.8	56.0	44.0	30.6	69.4
EE	27.7	72.3	28.3	71.7	29.4	70.6	40.1	59.9	27.7	72.3
IE	51.1	48.9	43.7	56.3	44.4	55.6	42.8	57.2	51.1	48.9
EL	35.9	64.1	37.7	62.3	38.9	61.1	31.4	68.6	35.9	64.1
ES	37.2	62.8	34.4	65.6	29.1	70.9	41.5	58.5	37.2	62.8
HR	19.9	80.1	16.4	83.6	20.6	79.4	28.7	71.3	19.9	80.1
FR	41.6	58.4	32.9	67.1	46.5	53.5	61.0	39.0	41.6	58.4
IT	25.4	74.6	30.2	69.8	29.1	70.9	52.5	47.5	25.4	74.6
CY	24.4	75.6	40.7	59.3	24.4	75.6	27.2	72.8	24.4	75.6
LT	30.4	69.6	22.2	77.8	33.3	66.7	44.5	55.5	30.4	69.6
LU	26.6	73.4	25.6	74.4	29.7	70.3	32.1	67.9	26.6	73.4
LV	28.0	72.0	40.0	60.0	54.3	45.7	58.6	41.4	28.0	72.0
MT	39.5	60.5	27.6	72.4	24.5	75.5	29.1	70.9	39.5	60.5
HU	15.1	84.9	18.5	81.5	9.5	90.5	23.0	77.0	15.1	84.9
NL	53.9	46.1	51.3	48.7	44.3	55.7	70.7	29.3	53.9	46.1
AT	35.6	64.4	25.3	74.7	42.1	57.9	40.6	59.4	35.6	64.4
PL	35.0	65.0	24.3	75.7	28.3	71.7	35.4	64.6	35.0	65.0
PT	39.5	60.5	31.5	68.5	26.6	73.4	41.8	58.2	39.5	60.5
RO	29.9	70.1	32.0	68.0	24.2	75.8	33.7	66.3	29.9	70.1
SI	9.6	90.4	19.3	80.7	16.7	83.3	40.0	60.0	9.6	90.4
SK	12.2	87.8	22.1	77.9	21.2	78.8	38.5	61.5	12.2	87.8
FI	61.4	38.6	62.4	37.6	61.3	38.7	73.5	26.5	61.4	38.6
SE	41.9	58.1	59.4	40.6	62.4	37.6	79.3	20.7	41.9	58.1
UK	67.8	32.2	44.7	55.3	46.3	53.7	65.7	34.3	67.8	32.2

Men and women who can accumulate hours for time off

	Triulate riours	otal
	Yes	No
DE	162	INO
BE	51.6	48.4
BG	30.7	69.3
CZ	53.7	46.3
DK	64.7	35.3
DE	51.3	48.7
EE	34.7	65.3
IE	44.5	55.5
EL	25.7	74.3
ES	24.5	75.5
HR	32.6	67.4
FR	40.7	59.3
IT	42.1	57.9
CY	25.6	74.4
LT	20.4	79.6
LU	19.4	80.6
LV	47.8	52.2
MT	32.5	67.5
HU	38.8	61.2
NL	58.1	41.9
AT	56.9	43.1
PL	54.6	45.4
PT	29.9	70.1
RO	43.4	56.6
SI	70.3	29.7
SK	44.2	55.8
FI	49.2	50.8
SE	71.1	28.9
UK	45.9	54.1

Men and women who can accumulate hours for time off by age

as % of total in each age group

	18-	24	25-	34	35-	49	50-		65	
	Yes	No								
EU	47.8	52.2	45.6	54.4	43.4	56.6	44.7	55.3	56.1	43.9
BE	43.2	56.8	61.3	38.7	48.4	51.6	48.3	51.7		
BG	10.5	89.5	41.9	58.1	32.5	67.5	24.6	75.4		
CZ	45.5	54.5	58.5	41.5	50.7	49.3	56.1	43.9	53.7	46.3
DK	12.4	87.6	56.8	43.2	72.5	27.5	68.3	31.7	36.1	63.9
DE	48.3	51.7	52.3	47.7	51.5	48.5	51.0	49.0	53.5	46.5
EE	46.6	53.4	44.9	55.1	34.2	65.8	20.3	79.7	34.5	65.5
IE	38.6	61.4	39.1	60.9	45.5	54.5	50.1	49.9	57.2	42.8
EL	14.8	85.2	38.4	61.6	23.2	76.8	16.1	83.9	59.8	40.2
ES	20.6	79.4	24.8	75.2	24.3	75.7	25.9	74.1		
HR	40.1	59.9	34.8	65.2	31.4	68.6	30.5	69.5		
FR	49.2	50.8	41.9	58.1	39.9	60.1	38.1	61.9	45.6	54.4
IT	39.7	60.3	40.6	59.4	40.7	59.3	46.3	53.7	62.4	37.6
CY	33.5	66.5	25.4	74.6	25.3	74.7	23.6	76.4		
LT	26.4	73.6	25.1	74.9	18.9	81.1	16.1	83.9	47.9	52.1
LU	34.7	65.3	20.2	79.8	17.9	82.1	13.1	86.9	57.5	42.5
LV	55.3	44.7	42.8	57.2	47.5	52.5	52.8	47.2	55.2	44.8
MT	30.6	69.4	26.1	73.9	38.8	61.2	31.4	68.6	36.9	63.1
HU	25.5	74.5	43.8	56.2	39.2	60.8	35.4	64.6		
NL	82.2	17.8	61.9	38.1	57.4	42.6	50.3	49.7	30.6	69.4
AT	54.0	46.0	66.6	33.4	52.4	47.6	55.6	44.4	62.8	37.2
PL	53.9	46.1	54.8	45.2	53.2	46.8	56.9	43.1		
PT	40.5	59.5	29.3	70.7	30.5	69.5	25.1	74.9	60.7	39.3
RO	45.0	55.0	44.7	55.3	45.5	54.5	34.0	66.0		
SI	64.2	35.8	74.6	25.4	69.0	31.0	68.5	31.5		
SK	44.3	55.7	34.2	65.8	47.3	52.7	50.4	49.6	49.6	50.4
FI	32.4	67.6	52.3	47.7	47.5	52.5	53.6	46.4	17.3	82.7
SE	46.2	53.8	68.0	32.0	73.4	26.6	75.9	24.1	70.9	29.1
UK	66.4	33.6	46.0	54.0	41.4	58.6	44.5	55.5	62.3	37.7

Men and women who can accumulate hours for time off by income level

as % of total in each income level group

	Lo	w	2nd I	evel	3rd I		% of total Hiç		Lo	<u> </u>
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU	39.8	60.2	43.3	56.7	45.7	54.3	49.4	50.6	39.8	60.2
BE	49.4	50.6	45.8	54.2	58.2	41.8	50.0	50.0	49.4	50.6
BG	21.4	78.6	34.1	65.9	26.2	73.8	31.5	68.5	21.4	78.6
CZ	51.8	48.2	53.6	46.4	54.7	45.3	55.0	45.0	51.8	48.2
DK	43.5	56.5	60.4	39.6	69.6	30.4	66.8	33.2	43.5	56.5
DE	43.2	56.8	47.8	52.2	52.6	47.4	55.9	44.1	43.2	56.8
EE	31.4	68.6	32.7	67.3	35.6	64.4	35.7	64.3	31.4	68.6
IE	51.4	48.6	42.8	57.2	40.7	59.3	43.7	56.3	51.4	48.6
EL	24.2	75.8	32.7	67.3	26.4	73.6	25.3	74.7	24.2	75.8
ES	21.2	78.8	23.8	76.2	25.5	74.5	31.2	68.8	21.2	78.8
HR	31.5	68.5	36.6	63.4	28.1	71.9	36.8	63.2	31.5	68.5
FR	34.2	65.8	35.8	64.2	47.9	52.1	41.4	58.6	34.2	65.8
IT	28.1	71.9	37.0	63.0	36.9	63.1	59.1	40.9	28.1	71.9
CY	18.3	81.7	27.5	72.5	29.0	71.0	29.8	70.2	18.3	81.7
LT	9.4	90.6	12.3	87.7	17.8	82.2	25.8	74.2	9.4	90.6
LU	18.7	81.3	18.6	81.4	19.2	80.8	16.9	83.1	18.7	81.3
LV	32.6	67.4	42.2	57.8	55.7	44.3	49.0	51.0	32.6	67.4
MT	35.4	64.6	34.5	65.5	35.1	64.9	34.2	65.8	35.4	64.6
HU	54.4	45.6	43.4	56.6	29.7	70.3	42.5	57.5	54.4	45.6
NL	53.2	46.8	63.7	36.3	62.5	37.5	55.3	44.7	53.2	46.8
AT	54.8	45.2	50.9	49.1	66.5	33.5	55.8	44.2	54.8	45.2
PL	53.7	46.3	51.3	48.7	52.8	47.2	58.9	41.1	53.7	46.3
PT	27.1	72.9	33.6	66.4	25.5	74.5	31.7	68.3	27.1	72.9
RO	40.7	59.3	33.4	66.6	38.3	61.7	48.4	51.6	40.7	59.3
SI	47.0	53.0	77.1	22.9	75.6	24.4	69.5	30.5	47.0	53.0
SK	18.6	81.4	43.8	56.2	41.5	58.5	51.1	48.9	18.6	81.4
FI	45.3	54.7	44.2	55.8	52.1	47.9	56.3	43.7	45.3	54.7
SE	59.4	40.6	71.8	28.2	72.5	27.5	76.2	23.8	59.4	40.6
UK	54.9	45.1	47.7	52.3	41.0	59.0	47.7	52.3	54.9	45.1

Men and women who are able to take a day off at short notice when needed

	Tota	I	Wom	e n	Men	ı
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU			59.4	40.6	67.3	32.7
BE	75.8	24.2	71.4	28.6	79.9	20.1
BG	80.2	19.8	82.1	17.9	78.3	21.7
CZ	70.9	29.1	65.9	34.1	75.1	24.9
DK	77.2	22.8	76.3	23.7	78.0	22.0
DE	44.1	55.9	42.7	57.3	45.4	54.6
EE	68.3	31.7	63.7	36.3	73.1	26.9
IE	76.2	23.8	73.0	27.0	79.1	20.9
EL	64.7	35.3	65.1	34.9	64.4	35.6
ES	72.7	27.3	66.8	33.2	77.6	22.4
HR	74.9	25.1	74.5	25.5	75.2	24.8
FR	73.6	26.4	67.5	32.5	79.3	20.7
IT	68.5	31.5	63.1	36.9	72.4	27.6
CY	71.2	28.8	73.2	26.8	69.9	30.1
LT	53.6	46.4	42.8	57.2	64.2	35.8
LU	31.6	68.4	24.5	75.5	38.7	61.3
LV	63.8	36.2	60.0	40.0	67.2	32.8
MT	73.3	26.7	72.4	27.6	73.9	26.1
HU	44.5	55.5	40.5	59.5	48.1	51.9
NL	84.0	16.0	80.5	19.5	87.0	13.0
AT	46.8	53.2	39.0	61.0	53.6	46.4
PL	44.0	56.0	43.8	56.2	44.2	55.8
PT	57.8	42.2	53.1	46.9	61.6	38.4
RO	54.8	45.2	49.3	50.7	59.1	40.9
SI	67.2	32.8	67.5	32.5	66.9	33.1
SK	46.1	53.9	41.9	58.1	49.7	50.3
FI	63.9	36.1	52.7	47.3	75.1	24.9
SE	76.8	23.2	68.8	31.2	84.6	15.4
UK	74.9	25.1	68.5	31.5	81.0	19.0

Men and women who are able to take a day off at short notice when needed by age

as % of total in each age group

	18-	24	25-	34	35-	49	50-		65	
	Yes	No								
EU	62.0	38.0	63.2	36.8	62.9	37.1	65.4	34.6	78.1	21.9
BE	58.3	41.7	77.9	22.1	79.0	21.0	73.2	26.8		
BG	79.4	20.6	78.4	21.6	76.6	23.4	87.1	12.9		
CZ	53.0	47.0	71.2	28.8	67.3	32.7	80.6	19.4		
DK	38.8	61.2	83.5	16.5	79.7	20.3	75.6	24.4	59.6	40.4
DE	35.6	64.4	40.9	59.1	43.7	56.3	49.0	51.0	52.4	47.6
EE	49.9	50.1	72.6	27.4	72.3	27.7	65.0	35.0	60.4	39.6
IE	63.6	36.4	71.2	28.8	78.5	21.5	80.8	19.2	92.5	7.5
EL	69.2	30.8	74.7	25.3	58.9	41.1	64.0	36.0	59.8	40.2
ES	81.5	18.5	67.3	32.7	72.8	27.2	76.5	23.5		
HR	72.0	28.0	75.0	25.0	73.7	26.3	77.2	22.8		
FR	71.2	28.8	74.4	25.6	72.2	27.8	76.4	23.6	68.3	31.7
IT	61.8	38.2	66.5	33.5	69.0	31.0	69.5	30.5	88.8	11.2
CY	55.2	44.8	69.4	30.6	78.0	22.0	67.5	32.5		
LT	58.1	41.9	60.6	39.4	54.6	45.4	44.0	56.0	49.7	50.3
LU	21.0	79.0	39.6	60.4	30.9	69.1	25.6	74.4	52.2	47.8
LV	52.4	47.6	62.2	37.8	65.0	35.0	67.2	32.8		
MT	75.2	24.8	69.3	30.7	72.7	27.3	76.9	23.1	83.7	16.3
HU	54.1	45.9	48.4	51.6	44.4	55.6	35.8	64.2		
NL	91.5	8.5	86.0	14.0	83.0	17.0	81.6	18.4		
AT	39.6	60.4	44.0	56.0	47.0	53.0	51.2	48.8	83.6	16.4
PL	37.5	62.5	47.8	52.2	41.8	58.2	45.5	54.5	63.8	36.2
PT	66.2	33.8	55.8	44.2	58.1	41.9	55.8	44.2		
RO	51.2	48.8	65.9	34.1	51.0	49.0	48.1	51.9		
SI	41.8	58.2	73.7	26.3	61.4	38.6	76.3	23.7		
SK	29.6	70.4	40.4	59.6	50.0	50.0	49.6	50.4	49.6	50.4
FI	51.1	48.9	66.1	33.9	59.4	40.6	70.2	29.8	84.4	15.6
SE	84.6	15.4	75.7	24.3	75.9	24.1	77.0	23.0	78.5	21.5
UK	85.5	14.5	73.2	26.8	74.2	25.8	72.9	27.1	84.5	15.5

Men and women who are able to take a day off at short notice when needed by income level

	Lo	w	2nd l	evel	3rd I	evel	Hiç	gh
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU	58.1	41.9	61.9	38.1	62.7	37.3	67.2	32.8
BE	71.3	28.7	69.8	30.2	77.3	22.7	78.5	21.5
BG	89.3	10.7	77.3	22.7	85.7	14.3	78.7	21.3
CZ	70.8	29.2	69.0	31.0	65.1	34.9	72.3	27.7
DK	82.0	18.0	79.2	20.8	72.3	27.7	81.9	18.1
DE	35.1	64.9	42.6	57.4	34.9	65.1	50.5	49.5
EE	64.9	35.1	55.9	44.1	64.9	35.1	74.1	25.9
IE	78.0	22.0	68.4	31.6	77.1	22.9	75.7	24.3
EL	54.4	45.6	68.0	32.0	69.5	30.5	65.9	34.1
ES	65.7	34.3	83.8	16.2	72.2	27.8	73.6	26.4
HR	77.1	22.9	72.1	27.9	75.2	24.8	80.0	20.0
FR	63.1	36.9	68.5	31.5	78.6	21.4	78.8	21.2
IT	56.8	43.2	70.3	29.7	63.1	36.9	71.6	28.4
CY	77.2	22.8	77.3	22.7	64.9	35.1	70.7	29.3
LT	43.7	56.3	45.0	55.0	47.4	52.6	62.7	37.3
LU	23.0	77.0	28.0	72.0	30.1	69.9	35.9	64.1
LV	39.7	60.3	68.9	31.1	66.1	33.9	69.4	30.6
MT	67.8	32.2	56.8	43.2	61.7	38.3	80.2	19.8
HU	39.2	60.8	48.0	52.0	46.0	54.0	43.2	56.8
NL	83.2	16.8	86.7	13.3	83.0	17.0	87.9	12.1
AT	64.8	35.2	38.8	61.2	48.1	51.9	43.3	56.7
PL	43.2	56.8	41.5	58.5	32.4	67.6	51.4	48.6
PT	55.0	45.0	55.9	44.1	59.1	40.9	65.0	35.0
RO	50.3	49.7	49.3	50.7	55.4	44.6	57.5	42.5
SI	56.1	43.9	60.1	39.9	67.8	32.2	73.9	26.1
SK	35.1	64.9	46.9	53.1	46.5	53.5	49.5	50.5
FI	59.8	40.2	55.5	44.5	62.7	37.3	69.8	30.2
SE	74.3	25.7	73.3	26.7	80.7	19.3	81.9	18.1
UK	76.2	23.8	70.1	29.9	75.2	24.8	79.7	20.3

How often are you involved in caring for your elderly or disabled relatives?

			Women					Men		
	Every day	Several days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never	Every day	Several days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never
EU	7.4	3.9	4.6	10.8	73.3	4.2	3.3	4.4	10.2	78.0
BE	5.5	5.6	5.8	12.5	70.6	3.8	3.1	5.4	9.7	78.1
BG	8.6	2.6	2.0	10.9	75.9	5.3	2.3	4.7	14.3	73.4
CZ	4.5	3.0	5.2	14.4	72.9	3.8	3.6	5.1	12.1	75.4
DK	1.3	2.1	4.2	12.9	79.4	1.3	1.0	3.0	10.8	84.0
DE	3.9	2.7	2.3	8.3	82.7	2.1	1.9	2.5	7.0	86.5
EE	8.9	2.4	3.0	9.3	76.4	4.0	3.4	2.3	10.1	80.1
IE	8.0	3.7	7.3	13.2	67.9	6.1	3.3	6.0	10.2	74.4
EL	11.7	2.3	2.0	6.3	77.7	3.6	1.7	1.6	4.0	89.1
ES	10.9	3.2	3.3	9.8	72.7	5.2	3.2	3.6	7.8	80.2
HR	14.5	4.1	3.2	6.1	72.1	8.5	4.1	2.5	6.5	78.4
FR	6.4	5.3	7.0	13.5	67.7	4.1	4.8	6.9	16.0	68.2
IT	9.3	5.9	5.5	10.2	69.1	5.3	5.3	5.0	10.3	74.2
CY	6.4	2.3	2.2	5.0	84.1	1.5	1.5	1.4	7.7	87.8
LT	10.7	7.5	5.4	17.4	59.0	4.9	6.0	6.3	15.1	67.7
LV	7.7	3.7	3.8	11.3	73.5	4.5	5.5	4.0	9.4	76.7
LU	4.3	3.2	4.6	7.1	80.8	4.4	3.6	2.9	9.3	79.8
MT	8.6	5.7	3.2	7.9	74.6	4.7	1.0	3.9	6.6	83.8
HU	8.2	4.4	6.1	9.5	71.8	4.6	4.8	3.7	9.6	77.3
NL	3.6	6.6	6.7	15.2	67.9	2.3	2.2	4.9	15.8	74.8
AT	5.4	2.7	4.2	13.2	74.5	2.0	1.9	1.9	7.7	86.6
PL	9.0	3.2	3.8	8.2	75.8	5.2	3.8	3.3	5.7	82.0
PT	9.4	2.9	2.6	6.7	78.4	5.4	1.2	3.3	7.2	82.9
RO	10.5	3.0	2.3	11.5	72.6	4.8	2.8	3.2	9.9	79.3
SI	5.4	4.1	3.9	8.4	78.1	3.8	3.7	4.4	9.1	79.0
SK	9.6	3.1	1.7	13.2	72.3	2.4	3.6	3.6	12.7	77.8
FI	3.5	4.0	8.5	30.6	53.3	3.1	3.0	8.2	29.9	55.7
SE	1.7	1.8	4.6	19.1	72.8	1.6	2.2	4.6	20.5	71.1
UK	7.8	3.5	6.5	10.4	71.8	5.6	3.0	6.1	9.4	75.8

How often are you involved in caring for your elderly or disabled relatives?

Men and women as % of total in each income level

		1. Lowest						2. 2nd					3. 3rd		i and we	4. Highest				
	Every day	Sever al days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never	Every day	Sever al days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never	Every day	Sever al days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never	Every day	Sever al days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never
EU	6.9	3.6	3.8	8.3	77.4	6.4	3.4	4.6	9.5	76.0	4.9	3.8	4.6	11.5	75.2	4.3	3.7	5.1	13.2	73.8
BE	5.9	5.7	3.9	11.4	73.0	5.6	4.3	6.0	10.1	73.9	5.0	4.1	4.2	11.5	75.2	4.4	5.3	9.5	16.4	64.5
BG	6.4	1.2	1.6	7.8	83.1	8.4	0.3	2.5	6.6	82.3	8.8	5.5	2.7	9.9	73.1	5.0	1.7	4.4	17.1	71.9
CZ	4.0	2.2	4.5	9.3	79.9	3.9	1.4	5.8	10.1	78.9	6.3	2.8	6.0	8.8	76.1	6.3	5.2	5.0	18.3	65.2
DK	1.7	1.0	6.0	9.0	82.3	0.2	1.9	2.4	11.1	84.5	1.2	2.2	5.0	11.8	79.8	0.3	0.8	2.3	16.1	80.5
DE	2.1	2.5	3.6	6.5	85.4	3.9	2.1	2.3	6.3	85.5	3.2	2.5	1.5	8.3	84.4	2.5	2.3	3.2	7.4	84.6
EE	7.9	3.8	1.3	6.7	80.2	7.2	1.9	3.7	5.3	81.9	10.2	4.0	0.7	10.5	74.6	4.3	2.3	2.8	11.8	78.8
IE	9.4	3.4	5.8	7.5	73.9	8.0	5.9	3.6	7.4	75.1	6.3	3.3	8.9	12.8	68.8	4.0	3.0	8.7	17.9	66.4
EL	8.3	2.8	2.4	3.4	83.1	13.1	1.2	0.7	5.6	79.3	6.4	1.5	1.5	5.4	85.2	8.9	2.9	3.2	3.0	82.0
ES	10.2	4.9	3.6	5.9	75.4	5.9	1.9	3.1	7.8	81.3	6.3	4.9	1.7	9.3	77.8	5.9	2.3	3.2	10.0	78.6
HR	18.4	2.1	1.8	6.3	71.4	11.2	4.7	3.1	7.4	73.6	11.4	4.3	5.8	9.0	69.5	9.1	5.8	2.7	6.8	75.7
FR	7.2	4.5	4.1	12.4	71.8	5.5	6.2	7.8	12.0	68.5	4.0	5.4	7.8	14.3	68.5	3.7	5.7	8.1	19.6	62.9
IT	8.7	4.8	4.5	8.8	73.3	7.8	4.3	7.3	10.4	70.2	6.4	5.2	5.1	12.7	70.6	5.8	7.1	4.6	12.8	69.7
CY	3.4	1.3	2.3	6.7	86.4	4.4	1.8	0.9	6.0	86.8	2.6	0.4	2.1	9.8	85.0	1.3	2.1	0.8	5.1	90.7
LT	10.1	3.8	5.4	12.3	68.4	8.7	4.0	5.8	12.1	69.4	9.5	7.8	6.3	15.8	60.6	7.7	10.8	6.6	20.6	54.2
LV	7.7	4.6	1.4	7.4	78.9	5.5	2.7	2.1	9.9	79.9	6.8	5.1	5.0	9.4	73.6	3.4	5.5	5.4	16.1	69.6
LU	2.1	1.8	1.4	10.8	84.0	5.5	2.6	5.4	6.7	79.7	1.1	2.5	4.2	6.8	85.4	7.3	4.3	4.5	10.5	73.4
MT	16.2	4.4	3.8	7.2	68.4	6.2	4.8	2.0	3.7	83.2	5.6	3.7	5.2	7.4	78.0	4.9	0.9	2.6	5.9	85.6
HU	6.9	3.3	4.4	9.6	75.7	8.8	7.6	3.8	6.4	73.4	3.3	6.5	4.7	12.8	72.7	7.1	1.4	5.0	13.3	73.1
NL	2.5	3.6	5.6	14.1	74.1	4.0	4.7	6.4	19.4	65.5	2.6	4.1	5.2	16.6	71.5	2.7	5.0	6.4	17.5	68.4
AT	4.4	1.4	1.0	5.9	87.4	1.9	2.4	1.4	11.9	82.4	5.3	2.5	5.0	13.2	73.9	2.7	3.3	6.6	10.4	77.0
PL	9.7	3.7	3.5	4.6	78.5	9.1	2.8	2.3	6.4	79.4	6.2	4.2	3.9	7.7	78.0	5.6	3.3	4.6	8.0	78.5
PT	9.1	1.4	1.5	11.9	76.1	10.7	1.4	5.7	6.6	75.6	6.1	1.5	2.2	2.7	87.5	7.6	1.6	2.9	8.9	79.0

Work-life balance measures A study of national policies

RO	11.0	3.4	1.3	8.8	75.4	11.2	2.9	3.8	6.9	75.3	5.9	1.1	3.6	10.9	78.5	4.9	2.9	2.4	15.3	74.5
SI	2.4	3.1	2.8	7.0	84.8	6.1	3.1	5.2	6.0	79.6	4.8	6.3	2.8	9.5	76.6	4.5	1.2	3.9	11.1	79.3
SK	8.1	3.3	2.7	7.8	78.1	9.6	3.0	1.9	13.9	71.7	6.8	3.3	1.6	15.1	73.2	2.1	2.9	4.6	15.9	74.5
FI	2.4	2.0	6.6	27.6	61.4	4.1	5.0	8.2	36.7	46.0	2.6	4.5	7.5	33.0	52.4	3.9	1.7	12.6	32.6	49.1
SE	1.3	3.1	2.5	13.8	79.3	3.5	1.4	4.6	19.1	71.4	0.4	1.4	4.8	24.0	69.4	1.8	2.5	5.8	27.2	62.7
UK	10.1	3.9	5.1	4.7	76.1	6.7	3.5	5.3	8.6	75.9	5.0	2.8	7.1	11.3	73.8	3.1	2.3	6.5	14.9	73.1

How often are you involved in caring for your elderly or disabled relatives?

Men and women as % of total in each age group

			18-24					25-34		101		wornen da 70 c	35-49	age groc	1P
	Every day	Several days a week		Less often	Never	Every day	Several days a week		Less often	Never	Every day	Several days a week		Less often	Never
EU	2.7	3.1	4.5	10.0	79.7	3.8	2.4	3.3	11.0	79.5	6.9	4.4	5.4	13.7	69.7
BE	1.3	1.2	3.7	11.1	82.7	1.3	2.6	4.6	11.4	80.1	6.1	5.8	6.7	16.9	64.5
BG	6.5	0.0	3.0	17.1	73.4	5.9	3.1	1.0	6.7	83.2	4.5	3.9	3.6	22.8	65.2
CZ	1.0	3.2	4.0	12.6	79.2	2.3	1.2	2.4	21.1	73.0	3.7	3.1	7.4	13.7	72.1
DK	2.5	0.0	5.6	7.7	84.1	0.0	0.7	3.7	12.3	83.3	0.9	2.3	3.9	13.7	79.2
DE	1.7	2.7	2.3	8.6	84.7	0.7	1.4	2.5	9.2	86.1	3.4	2.2	2.2	8.9	83.3
EE	1.6	3.5	2.6	13.1	79.2	5.7	1.0	3.1	7.6	82.6	7.1	3.4	4.4	14.3	70.9
IE	5.0	1.3	8.6	12.8	72.3	2.9	1.0	8.0	13.6	74.6	10.0	7.0	4.8	13.9	64.3
EL	1.8	0.0	0.0	5.5	92.7	4.7	0.5	1.8	3.8	89.2	9.4	2.7	1.8	6.3	79.9
ES	1.8	2.5	6.3	3.3	86.1	3.0	2.1	2.7	8.7	83.5	9.6	5.2	2.4	10.5	72.4
HR	1.5	4.7	3.7	6.2	84.0	7.1	5.6	1.5	3.5	82.3	16.9	6.5	4.8	10.0	61.9
FR	5.9	4.7	4.3	6.3	78.9	6.6	3.6	3.5	13.9	72.4	5.7	5.9	11.5	24.3	52.6
IT	1.4	3.3	4.8	14.2	76.2	2.5	2.9	5.9	10.5	78.2	9.6	6.4	4.7	12.2	67.2
CY	1.3	0.0	3.6	3.9	91.2	4.4	0.7	2.0	3.2	89.7	4.0	2.8	1.3	8.5	83.4
LT	4.7	2.7	7.2	23.6	61.9	2.9	6.5	5.4	19.8	65.5	12.6	11.1	8.5	20.1	47.8
LV	3.2	4.1	4.1	14.5	74.2	4.7	5.0	4.2	10.2	75.9	6.8	8.2	4.7	13.4	67.0
LU	4.0	3.9	1.7	6.0	84.4	2.8	2.3	4.7	7.8	82.3	2.5	3.7	4.4	11.1	78.3
МТ	4.7	2.0	0.7	9.5	83.1	2.3	0.6	0.7	5.1	91.4	5.7	4.8	7.0	10.1	72.4
ΗU	2.8	3.9	6.4	12.3	74.6	5.7	6.3	5.2	7.1	75.7	8.5	4.0	6.3	13.8	67.4
NL	1.3	1.6	3.9	12.7	80.6	2.2	4.6	0.5	20.1	72.5	2.1	3.8	8.2	18.9	67.0
AT	2.7	0.0	1.8	1.1	94.4	1.3	0.0	1.2	9.4	88.2	2.4	3.9	4.5	10.1	79.0
PL	2.1	4.9	2.9	5.6	84.5	5.9	2.7	1.9	7.0	82.5	10.2	4.7	5.0	11.3	68.9
PT	2.9	1.6	4.1	5.5	85.8	3.2	2.2	2.4	6.1	86.1	8.4	2.5	3.4	7.0	78.7
RO	3.0	0.6	2.2	11.6	82.6	5.6	2.3	4.4	10.4	77.3	11.2	4.8	2.5	14.9	66.6
SI	1.7	2.3	4.1	8.4	83.6	1.8	2.2	1.6	10.3	84.2	5.7	5.6	7.7	10.5	70.6
SK	7.2	3.8	0.0	21.5	67.6	1.9	3.0	2.6	9.9	82.5	8.8	2.9	3.6	13.9	70.8
FI	0.0	2.6	5.7	38.6	53.1	2.1	1.0	3.3	43.8	49.8	3.4	2.8	9.4	34.4	50.0
SE	0.8	0.0	4.5	21.7	73.0	0.6	1.4	1.6	24.0	72.4	1.8	2.7	3.9	18.9	72.7
UK	3.4	5.3	9.8	12.0	69.5	6.4	2.0	4.1	11.1	76.4	6.5	3.3	8.0	12.1	70.2

Men and women as % of total in each age group

					<u> </u>	Men and women as % of total in each age group						
			50-64		<u> </u>			65+				
	Every day	Several days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never	Every day	Several days a week	Once or twice a week	Less often	Never		
EU	8.3	5.4	6.2	11.6	68.5	5.0	2.0	2.3	5.2	85.5		
BE	8.2	7.2	7.2	9.9	67.5	3.4	2.5	4.2	5.3	84.6		
BG	11.9	3.1	7.2	12.5	65.4	5.8	0.9	0.7	3.8	88.8		
CZ	6.5	4.4	7.1	12.6	69.6	5.6	4.2	3.2	6.5	80.4		
DK	1.7	2.7	3.8	15.6	76.2	1.6	0.7	2.0	7.3	88.4		
DE	4.6	4.4	4.1	9.6	77.4	3.1	1.0	0.9	3.3	91.7		
EE	11.3	4.5	1.7	8.5	74.1	5.4	1.7	1.5	5.4	86.1		
IE	7.6	3.8	11.3	11.0	66.2	7.7	1.0	1.1	5.7	84.5		
EL	9.7	4.4	3.7	7.1	75.1	8.6	1.0	1.0	3.1	86.3		
ES	12.8	3.7	5.2	12.6	65.7	8.7	1.2	2.7	5.3	82.1		
HR	17.0	2.9	2.7	6.8	70.6	7.1	1.3	1.0	2.7	87.8		
FR	6.1	7.4	9.3	17.0	60.2	2.6	2.6	2.2	4.2	88.4		
IT	12.9	9.2	7.2	10.0	60.6	4.7	3.7	3.8	6.5	81.3		
CY	7.1	3.1	2.4	8.1	79.2	1.9	2.3	0.0	6.7	89.1		
LT	12.6	9.5	6.1	12.7	59.1	3.0	1.2	1.3	7.5	87.0		
LV	10.9	3.4	4.5	7.7	73.5	4.0	1.3	1.9	7.9	84.9		
LU	7.3	5.8	4.6	9.6	72.6	5.6	0.6	1.9	2.8	89.0		
MT	9.5	4.6	5.7	7.0	73.2	9.4	3.8	1.1	4.5	81.2		
HU	10.0	7.0	5.7	7.9	69.4	2.4	1.4	1.7	6.2	88.3		
NL	5.1	7.4	8.4	15.5	63.7	3.0	3.3	4.3	9.4	80.1		
AT	7.8	4.3	5.2	18.7	64.1	3.8	1.0	1.0	7.1	87.1		
PL	8.9	3.5	4.4	5.9	77.3	6.0	1.3	2.6	3.8	86.4		
PT	11.7	2.1	2.6	10.7	73.0	8.4	1.9	2.4	4.1	83.1		
RO	10.2	3.4	3.4	10.6	72.5	5.4	1.8	0.9	4.4	87.5		
SI	7.1	6.1	4.3	9.2	73.3	4.1	1.3	1.6	4.9	88.1		
SK	7.9	4.9	3.1	12.3	71.8	3.1	2.0	1.9	9.6	83.4		
FI	6.5	6.2	14.6	27.6	45.0	2.2	3.6	5.0	15.6	73.7		
SE	1.0	3.8	8.3	24.4	62.5	3.1	1.0	4.0	12.6	79.4		
UK	7.6	4.7	7.8	10.1	69.9	8.2	1.9	2.5	4.8	82.7		

Do you have fixed starting and finishing times in your work?

Total Women

	Total		Women		Men	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU			33.7	66.3	43.6	56.4
BE	41.3	58.7	36.9	63.1	45.2	54.8
BG	22.5	77.5	15.4	84.6	29.4	70.6
CZ	42.6	57.4	34.7	65.3	49.4	50.6
DK	45.4	54.6	45.3	54.7	45.4	54.6
DE	38.1	61.9	33.0	67.0	42.8	57.2
EE	36.1	63.9	32.1	67.9	40.5	59.5
IE	45.5	54.5	35.5	64.5	54.3	45.7
EL	39.7	60.3	32.3	67.7	45.3	54.7
ES	31.1	68.9	25.1	74.9	36.3	63.7
HR	33.4	66.6	27.0	73.0	39.3	60.7
FR	41.0	59.0	36.8	63.2	45.0	55.0
IT	39.7	60.3	30.7	69.3	47.3	52.7
CY	30.4	69.6	27.8	72.2	32.9	67.1
LT	30.2	69.8	24.4	75.6	36.6	63.4
LU	35.5	64.5	33.3	66.7	39.8	60.2
LV	36.7	63.3	29.6	70.4	42.0	58.0
MT	25.0	75.0	21.7	78.3	27.2	72.8
HU	35.3	64.7	31.7	68.3	39.1	60.9
NL	52.5	47.5	52.8	47.2	52.3	47.7
AT	50.6	49.4	44.6	55.4	56.9	43.1
PL	28.0	72.0	21.5	78.5	34.6	65.4
PT	38.6	61.4	32.5	67.5	45.2	54.8
RO	37.1	62.9	32.6	67.4	41.2	58.8
SI	40.0	60.0	36.6	63.4	43.1	56.9
SK	28.7	71.3	18.6	81.4	37.9	62.1
FI	56.4	43.6	54.3	45.7	58.5	41.5
SE	43.6	56.4	40.6	59.4	46.5	53.5
UK	42.1	57.9	38.8	61.2	45.0	55.0

Source: European Working Conditions Survey. 2015

Do you have fixed starting and finishing times in your work?

as % of total in each age group

	<35		25-49		50+	
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
EU	37.0	63.0	37.5	62.5	42.4	57.6
BE	41.1	58.9	39.9	60.1	43.5	56.5
BG	20.5	79.5	23.1	76.9	23.2	76.8
CZ	42.5	57.5	43.1	56.9	41.3	58.7
DK	45.2	54.8	51.9	48.1	39.6	60.4
DE	35.0	65.0	37.4	62.6	41.4	58.6
EE	32.2	67.8	39.0	61.0	37.3	62.7
IE	41.9	58.1	47.9	52.1	45.7	54.3
EL	36.1	63.9	38.1	61.9	46.2	53.8
ES	31.0	69.0	31.7	68.3	30.5	69.5
HR	27.2	72.8	33.1	66.9	39.6	60.4
FR	40.5	59.5	42.8	57.2	39.0	61.0
IT	39.3	60.7	35.1	64.9	45.5	54.5
CY	32.8	67.2	28.3	71.7	27.9	72.1
LT	27.1	72.9	30.8	69.2	31.8	68.2
LU	33.5	66.5	36.9	63.1	40.1	59.9
LV	34.5	65.5	31.2	68.8	40.0	60.0
MT	28.8	71.2	22.9	77.1	21.8	78.2
HU	33.2	66.8	34.2	65.8	38.0	62.0
NL	55.0	45.0	49.3	50.7	53.1	46.9
AT	43.9	56.1	49.4	50.6	59.6	40.4
PL	24.8	75.2	27.4	72.6	33.5	66.5
PT	36.2	63.8	31.2	68.8	47.0	53.0
RO	34.4	65.6	33.8	66.2	45.5	54.5
SI	40.4	59.6	37.7	62.3	42.8	57.2
SK	30.1	69.9	26.5	73.5	29.7	70.3
FI	56.2	43.8	57.6	42.4	55.3	44.7
SE	40.3	59.7	43.8	56.2	46.2	53.8
UK	38.2	61.8	39.3	60.7	49.4	50.6

Source: European Working Conditions Survey. 2015

ANNEX 2: PRESENTATION OF THE EUROPEAN SOCIAL POLICY NETWORK (ESPN)

A. ESPN Network Management Team and Network Core Team

The European Social Policy Network (ESPN) is managed jointly by the Luxembourg Institute of Socio-Economic Research (LISER) and the independent research company APPLICA, in close association with the European Social Observatory.

The ESPN Network Management Team is responsible for the overall supervision and coordination of the ESPN. It consists of five members:

NETWORK MANAGEMENT TEAM

Eric Marlier (LISER, LU)

Project Director

Email: eric.marlier@skynet.be

Hugh Frazer (National University of Ireland Maynooth, IE) Independent Experts' Coordinator and Social Inclusion Leader

Email: <u>hughfrazer@eircom.net</u>

Loredana Sementini (Applica, BE)

Communication/events and IT Coordinator

Email: LS@applica.be

Bart Vanhercke (European Social Observatory, BE)

Overall Social Protection Leader

Email: vanhercke@ose.be
Terry Ward (Applica, BE)

MISSOC Leader

Email:: TW@applica.be

The ESPN Network Core Team provides high level expertise and inputs on specific aspects of the ESPN's work. It consists of 14 experts:

NETWORK CORE TEAM

The five members of the Network Management Team and

Rita Baeten (European Social Observatory, BE), Healthcare and Long-term care Leader

Marcel Fink (Institute for Advanced Studies, Austria), MISSOC Users' Perspective

Andy Fuller (Alphametrics), IT Leader

Anne-Catherine Guio (LISER, LU), Quantitative Analysis Leader, Knowledge Bank Coordinator and Reference budget

Saskia Klosse (University of Maastricht, NL), MISSOC and International Social Security Legal Expert

David Natali (University of Bologna [IT] and European Social Observatory [BE]), Pensions Leader

Monika Natter (ÖSB, AT), Peer Review Perspective

Stefán Ólafsson (University of Iceland, IS), MISSOC Users' Perspective

Frank Vandenbroucke (University of Leuven [KU Leuven]), Decision-making Perspective

B. ESPN National independent experts for social protection and social inclusion (Country Teams)

AUSTRIA

Marcel Fink (Institute for Advanced Studies)

Expert in Social inclusion, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: fink@ihs.ac.at

Monika Riedel (Institute for Advanced Studies)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: <u>riedel@ihs.ac.at</u>

National coordination: Marcel Fink

BELGIUM

Ides(bald) Nicaise (Research Institute for Work and Society – HIVA, KULeuven)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: <u>Ides.nicaise@kuleuven.be</u>

Jozef Pacolet (Research Institute for Work and Society – HIVA, KULeuven)

Expert in Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: jozef.pacolet@kuleuven.be

National coordination: Ides Nicaise

BULGARIA

George Bogdanov (Hotline Itd)

Expert in Social inclusion
Email: george@hotline-bg.com

Lidia Georgieva (Medical University Sofia) Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: <u>lidia1001@gmail.com</u>

Boyan Zahariev (Open Society Foundation)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions

Email: bzahariev@osi.bg

National coordination: George Bogdanov

CROATIA

Paul Stubbs (The Institute of Economics)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: pstubbs@eizg.hr

Ivana Vukorepa (University of Zagreb)

Expert in Pensions

Email: <u>ivana.vukorepa@pravo.hr</u>

Siniša Zrinščak (*University of Zagreb*) Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: sinisa.zrinscak@pravo.hr
National coordination: Paul Stubbs

CYPRUS

Christos Koutsampelas (University of Cyprus)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: koutsampelas.christos@ucy.ac.cy
Panos Pashardes (University of Cyprus)
Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions

Email: p.pashardes@ucy.ac.cy

Mamas Theodorou (Open University of Cyprus)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: m.theodorou@ouc.ac.cy

National coordination: Panos Pashardes

CZECH REPUBLIC

Robert Jahoda (Masaryk University)

Expert in Pensions

Email: jahoda@econ.muni.cz

Ivan Malý (Masaryk University)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: ivan@econ.muni.cz

Tomáš Sirovátka (Masaryk University)

Expert in Social inclusion (and Long-term care)

Email: sirovatk@fss.muni.cz

National coordination: Tomáš Sirovátka

DENMARK

Jon Kvist (Roskilde University)

Expert in Social inclusion, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: jkvist@ruc.dk

Kjeld Møller Pedersen (University of Southern Denmark)

Expert in Healthcare Email: kmp@sam.sdu.dk

National coordination: Jon Kvist

ESTONIA

Helen Biin (Praxis)
Expert in Social inclusion
Email: helen.biin@praxis.ee

Andres Võrk (Praxis)

Expert in Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: andres.vork@praxis.ee

National coordination: Andres Võrk

FINLAND

Laura Kalliomaa-Puha (Social Insurance Institution of Finland - Kela)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care Email: laura.kalliomaa-puha@kela.fi

Olli Kangas (Social Insurance Institution of Finland - Kela)

Expert in Social inclusion. Healthcare and Pensions

Email: olli.kangas@kela.fi

National coordination: Olli Kangas

FRANCE

Gaël Coron (EHESP French School of Public Health)

Expert in Pensions

Email: Gael.Coron@ehesp.fr

Gilles Huteau (EHESP French School of Public Health)

Expert in Healthcare

Email: gilles.huteau@ehesp.fr

Blanche Le Bihan (EHESP French School of Public Health)

Expert in Long-term care

Email: <u>blanche.lebihan@ehesp.fr</u>

Michel Legros (EHESP French School of Public Health & National Observatory on

Poverty and Social Exclusion)

Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: michel.legros@ehesp.fr

National coordination: Michel Legros

GERMANY

Gerhard Bäcker (*University of Duisburg/Essen*) Expert in Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: gerhard.baecker@uni-due.de

Walter Hanesch (Hochschule Darmstadt – University of Applied Sciences)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: walter.hanesch@h-da.de

National coordination: Walter Hanesch

GREECE

Yiannis Sakellis (Panteion University of Political and Social Sciences)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: <u>ioannisakellis@gmail.com</u>

Menelaos Theodoroulakis (Research Institute of Urban Environment and Human

Recourses)

Expert in Pensions and mental healthcare

Email: mtheodor@pepsaee.gr

Dimitris Ziomas (Greek National Centre for Social Research – EKKE)

Expert in Social inclusion and Long-term care

Email: dziomas@ekke.gr

National coordination: Dimitris Ziomas

HUNGARY

Fruzsina Albert (Hungarian Academy of Sciences Center for Social Sciences and Károli Gáspár University of the Reformed Church)

Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: albert.fruzsina@gmail.com

Róbert Iván Gál (Demographic Research Institute, Central Statistical Office and TÁRKI Social Research Institute)

Expert in Pensions and Long-term care

Email: gal@tarki.hu

National coordination: Fruzsina Albert

ICELAND

Tinna Ásgeirsdóttir (University of Iceland)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: ta@hi.is

Stefan Ólafsson (University of Iceland)

Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: olafsson@hi.is

Kolbeinm H. Stefánsson (University of Iceland and Statistics Iceland)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: kolbeinn@hi.is

National coordination: Stefán Ólafsson

IRELAND

Sara Burke (Centre for Health Policy and Management, Trinity College Dublin)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: sarabur@gmail.com

Mary Daly (University of Oxford)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: mary.daly@spi.ox.ac.uk

Gerard Hughes (School of Business, Trinity College Dublin)

Expert in Pensions Email: gehughes@tcd.ie

National coordination: Mary Daly

ITALY

Matteo Jessoula (University of Milano)

Expert in Pensions

Email: matteo.jessoula@unimi.it

Emmanuele Pavolini (Macerata University) Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: emmanuele.pavolini@unimc.it

Filippo Strati (Studio Ricerche Sociali - SRS)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: srs@srseuropa.eu

National coordination: Filippo Strati

LATVIA

Tana Lace (*Riga Stradins University*) Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: tanalace@inbox.lv

Feliciana Rajevska (Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences)

Expert in Long-term care and Pensions

Email: rajevska@latnet.lv

National coordination: Feliciana Rajevska

LIECHTENSTEIN

Patricia Hornich (Liechtenstein-Institut)

Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: patricia.hornich@liechtenstein-institut.li

Wilfried Marxer (Liechtenstein-Institut)

Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: wilfried.marxer@liechtenstein-institut.li

National coordination: Wilfried Marxer

LITHUANIA

Romas Lazutka (Vilnius University) Expert in Pensions and Social inclusion

Email: romas.lazutka@fsf.vu.lt

Arūnas Poviliūnas (Vilnius University) Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: arunas.poviliunas@fsf.vu.lt

Laimute Zalimiene (Vilnius University)
Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: <u>laima.zalimiene@fsf.vu.lt</u>

National coordination: Arunas Poviliunas

LUXEMBOURG

Jozef Pacolet (Research Institute for Work and Society, Catholic University Leuven)

Expert in Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: <u>jozef.pacolet@kuleuven.be</u>

Hugo Swinnen (Independent social policy researcher)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: hswinnen@home.nl

National coordination: Hugo Swinnen

FYR of MACEDONIA

Dragan Gjorgjev (Institute of Public Health and Public Health Department at the Medical Faculty)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: dgjorgjev@gmail.com

Maja Gerovska Mitev (Institute of Social Work and Social Policy, Faculty of

Philosophy, Ss. Cyril and Methodius University)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions Email: gerovska@fzf.ukim.edu.mk

National coordination: Maja Gerovska Mitev

MALTA

Anna Borg (University of Malta)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions

Email: anna.borg@um.edu.mt

Mario Vassallo (University of Malta)

Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: mario.vassallo@um.edu.mt
National coordination: Mario Vassallo

NETHERLANDS

Karen M. Anderson (University of Southampton)

Expert in Pensions and Long-term care

Email: K.M.Anderson@soton.ac.uk

Marieke Blommesteijn (Regioplan Policy Research)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: Marieke.blommesteijn@regioplan.nl

Katrien de Vaan (Regioplan Policy Research)

Expert in Healthcare and support Email: <u>Katrien.de.vaan@regioplan.nl</u>

National coordination: Marieke Blommesteijn

NORWAY

Axel West Pedersen (Institute for Social Research)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions Email: awp@samfunnsforskning.no

Anne Skevik Grødem (Institute for Social Research)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: a.s.grodem@samfunnsforskning.no

Marijke Veenstra (Norwegian Social Research - NOVA)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: mve@nova.no

National coordination: Axel West Pedersen

POLAND

Agnieszka Chłoń-Domińczak (Warsaw School of Economics – SGH and Educational

Research Institute)

Expert in Pensions and Social inclusion Email: Agnieszka.Chlon@gmail.com

Agnieszka Sowa (Institute of Labour and Social Affairs and Centre for Social and

Economic Research, CASE Foundation)
Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care
Email: Agnieszka.Sowa@case.com.pl.

Irena Topińska (Centre for Social and Economic Research, CASE Foundation)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions Email: irena.topinska@case.com.pl National coordination: Irena Topińska

PORTUGAL

Isabel Baptista (Centro de Estudos para a Intervenção Social - CESIS)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: Isabel.baptista@cesis.org

Pedro Perista (Centro de Estudos para a Intervenção Social - CESIS)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: pedro.perista@cesis.org

Céu Mateus (Division of Health Research, Lancaster University, Furness College)

Expert in Healthcare Email: ceum@ensp.unl.pt

Heloísa Perista (Centro de Estudos para a Intervenção Social - CESIS)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions

Email: heloisa.perista@cesis.org

Maria de Lourdes Quaresma (Centro de Estudos para a Intervenção Social - CESIS)

Expert in Long-term care and Pensions Email: mlurdes.quaresma@gmail.com
National coordination: Isabel Baptista

ROMANIA

Dana Otilia Farcasanu (Foundation Centre for Health Policies and Services)

Expert in Healthcare (insurance and policies)

Email: <u>dfarcasanu@cpss.ro</u>

Luana Pop (Faculty of Sociology and Social Work, University of Bucharest)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: <u>Luana.pop@gmail.com</u>

Daniela Urse (Pescaru) (Faculty of Sociology and Social Work, University of

Bucharest)

Expert in Pensions

Email: daniela_pescaru@yahoo.com

Valentin Vladu (Community Care Foundation)

Expert in Long-term care

Email: <u>valentin_vladu@yahoo.com</u>

National coordination: Luana Pop

SERBIA

Jurij Bajec (Faculty of Economics)

Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions

Email: jbajec@ekof.bg.ec.ra

Ljiljana Stokic Pejin (Economics Institute Belgrade) Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: <u>ljiljana.pejin@ecinst.org.rs</u>

National coordination: Ljiljana Stokic Pejin

SLOVAKIA

Rastislav Bednárik (Institute for Labour and Family Research)

Expert in Pensions and Long-term care Email: Rastislav.Bednarik@ivpr.gov.sk

Andrea Madarasová Gecková (P.J. Safarik University in Kosice)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: andrea.geckova@upjs.sk

Daniel Gerbery (Comenius University)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: daniel.gerbery@gmail.com
National coordination: Daniel Gerbery

SLOVENIA

Boris Majcen (Institute for Economic Research)

Expert in Pensions
Email: majcenb@ier.si

Valentina Prevolnik Rupel (Institute for Economic Research)

Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: rupelv@ier.si

Nada Stropnik (Institute for Economic Research)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: stropnikn@ier.si

National coordination: Nada Stropnik

SPAIN

Ana Arriba Gonzáles de Durana (University of Alcalá)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: ana.arriba@uah.es

Francisco Javier Moreno Fuentes (IPP-CSIC)

Expert in Healthcare

Email: javier.moreno@cchs.csic.es

Vicente Marbán Gallego (University of Alcalá)

Expert in Long-term care Email: vicente.marban@uah.es

Julia Montserrat Codorniu (Centre of Social Policy Studies)

Expert in Long-term care and Pensions

Email: <u>jmontserratc@gmail.com</u>

Gregorio Rodríguez Cabrero (University of Alcalá)

Expert in Social inclusion, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: gregorio.rodriguez@uah.es

National coordination: Gregorio Rodríguez Cabrero

SWEDEN

Johan Fritzell (Stockholm University and Karolinska Institutet)

Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: johan.fritzell@ki.se

Kenneth Nelson (Stockholm University)

Expert in Social inclusion Email: <u>kennethn@sofi.su.se</u>

Joakim Palme (Uppsala University)

Expert in Pensions

Email: Joakim.Palme@statsvet.uu.se

Pär Schön (Stockholm University and Karolinska Institutet)

Expert in Long-term care Email: par.schon@ki.se

National coordination: Johan Fritzell

SWITZERLAND

Giuliano Bonoli (Institut de Hautes Etudes en Administration Publique - IDHEAP)

Expert in Social inclusion, Healthcare, Long-term care and Pensions

Email: giuliano.bonoli@unil.ch

Philipp Trein (University of Lausanne)
Expert in Healthcare and Long-term care

Email: josephphilipp.trein@unil.ch

National coordination: Giuliano Bonoli

TURKEY

Fikret Adaman (Bogazici University) Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: adaman@boun.edu.tr

Dilek Aslan (Hacettepe University)

Expert in Long-term care

Email: diaslan@hacettepe.edu.tr

Bekir Burcay Erus (*Bogazici University*) Expert in Social inclusion and Healthcare

Email: <u>burcay.erus@boun.edu.tr</u>

Serdar Sayan (TOBB Economics and Technology University)

Expert in Pensions

Email: serdar.sayan@etu.edu.tr

National coordination: Fikret Adaman

UNITED KINGDOM

Fran Bennett (University of Oxford)

Expert in Social inclusion

Email: fran.bennett@spi.ox.ac.uk

Jonathan Bradshaw (University of York) Expert in Social inclusion and Pensions Email: Jonathan.bradshaw@york.ac.uk

Caroline Glendinning (*University of York*)

Expert in Long-term care

Email: caroline.glendinning@york.ac.uk

Alan Maynard (University of York)

Expert in Healthcare

Email: <u>Alan.maynard@york.ac.uk</u>

National coordination: Jonathan Bradshaw

ANNEX 3: COUNTRIES' OFFICIAL ABBREVIATIONS

A. EU countries

2004,	untries prior to 2007 and 2013 ements (EU-15)	EU countries that joined in 2004, 2007 or 2013			
BE	Belgium	2004	2004 Enlargement		
DK	Denmark	CZ	Czech Republic		
DE	Germany	EE	Estonia		
IE	Ireland	CY	Cyprus		
EL	Greece	LV	Latvia		
ES	Spain	LT	Lithuania		
FR	France	HU	Hungary		
IT	Italy	MT	Malta		
LU	Luxembourg	PL	Poland		
NL	The Netherlands	SI	Slovenia		
AT	Austria	SK	Slovakia		
PT	Portugal				
FI	Finland	2007	' Enlargement		
SE	Sweden	BG	Bulgaria		
UK	United Kingdom	RO	Romania		
		2013 Enlargement HR Croatia			

In EU averages, countries are weighted by their population sizes.

B. Non-EU countries covered by the ESPN

Former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia (MK), Iceland (IS), Liechtenstein (LI), Norway (NO), Serbia (RS), Switzerland (CH), Turkey (TR).

HOW TO OBTAIN EU PUBLICATIONS

Free publications:

- one copy:
 via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu);
- more than one copy or posters/maps:
 from the European Union's representations (http://ec.europa.eu/represent_en.htm);
 from the delegations in non-EU countries
 (http://eeas.europa.eu/delegations/index_en.htm);
 by contacting the Europe Direct service (http://europa.eu/europedirect/index_en.htm)
 or calling 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (free phone number from anywhere in the EU) (*).
 - (*) The information given is free, as are most calls (though some operators, phone boxes or hotels may charge you).

Priced publications:

• via EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu).

Priced subscriptions:

• via one of the sales agents of the Publications Office of the European Union (http://publications.europa.eu/others/agents/index_en.htm).





doi: 10.2767/80471